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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF NAV CANADA 

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of management and have been approved by the 
Board of Directors of NAV CANADA (the Company). These consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared by management in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and include 
amounts that are based on estimates of the expected effects of current events and transactions, with appropriate 
consideration to materiality, judgments and financial information determined by specialists. In addition, in 
preparing the financial information we must interpret the requirements described above, make determinations as 
to the relevance of information to be included, and make estimates and assumptions that affect reported 
information. 

Management has also prepared a Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), which is based on the 
Company’s financial results prepared in accordance with IFRS. It provides information regarding the Company’s 
financial condition and results of operations, and should be read in conjunction with these consolidated financial 
statements and accompanying notes. The MD&A also includes information regarding the impact of current 
transactions and events, sources of liquidity and capital resources, operating trends, risks and uncertainties. 
Actual results in the future may differ materially from our present assessment of this information because events 
and circumstances in the future may not occur as expected. 

Management has developed and maintains a system of internal control over financial reporting and disclosure 
controls, including a program of internal audits. Management believes that these controls provide reasonable 
assurance that financial records are reliable and form a proper basis for the preparation of financial statements, 
and we have signed certificates as required by National Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ 
Annual and Interim Filings in this regard. The internal accounting control process includes management’s 
communication to employees of policies that govern ethical business conduct. 

The Board of Directors has appointed an Audit & Finance Committee that is composed of directors who are 
independent of the Company and to which the Board of Directors has delegated responsibility for oversight of the 
financial reporting process. The Audit & Finance Committee meets at least four times during the year with 
management and independently with each of the internal and external auditors and as a group to review any 
significant accounting, internal control and auditing matters. The Audit & Finance Committee reviews the 
consolidated financial statements, MD&A and Annual Information Form before these are submitted to the Board 
of Directors for approval. The internal and external auditors have free access to the Audit & Finance Committee. 

With respect to the external auditors, the Audit & Finance Committee approves the terms of engagement and 
reviews the annual audit plan, the Independent Auditors’ Report and the results of the audit. It also recommends 
to the Board of Directors the firm of external auditors to be appointed by the Members of the Company. 

The independent external auditors, KPMG LLP, have been appointed by the Members to express an opinion as to 
whether the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the Company’s financial 
position, results of operations and cash flows in accordance with IFRS. The report of KPMG LLP outlines the 
scope of their examination and their opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

 
 
(Signed) “Raymond G. Bohn”  (Signed) “Alexander N. Struthers”  

Raymond G. Bohn Alexander N. Struthers  
President and Chief Executive Officer Vice President  
 and Chief Financial Officer  

October 21, 2021         October 21, 2021



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Members of NAV CANADA: 

Opinion 

We have audited consolidated financial statements of NAV CANADA (the Entity), which comprise: 

• the consolidated statements of financial position as at August 31, 2021 and August 31, 2020 

• the consolidated statements of operations for the years then ended 

• the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) for the years then ended 

• the consolidated statements of changes in equity for the years then ended 

• the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended 

• and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies 

(hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of the Entity as at August 31, 2021 and August 31, 2020, and its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements” section of our report.  

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises: 

• the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant Canadian 
Securities Commissions. 

• the information, other than the financial statements and the auditors’ report thereon, included in a  document 
likely to be entitled “Annual Report”. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified 
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit and remain alert for indications that the other information 
appears to be materially misstated.   
  



 

 

We obtained the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant Canadian 
Securities Commissions as at the date of this auditors’ report. If, based on the work we have performed on this 
other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact in the auditors’ report. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

The information, other than the financial statements and the auditors’ report thereon, included in a document likely 
to be entitled “Annual Report” is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report. If, 
based on the work we will perform on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report that fact to those charged with governance.   

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Entity’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management. 

  



 

 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit. 

• Provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

 

(Signed) KPMG LLP 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 
 

Ottawa, Canada 

October 21, 2021
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Consolidated Statements of Operations 

Years ended August 31 

(millions of Canadian dollars) 

 Notes  2021  2020 

        

Revenue        

 Customer service charges 4  $ 815  $ 930 

 Other revenue 4   55   70 

      870   1,000 

        

Operating expenses        

 Salaries and benefits 5   837   942 

 Technical services    161   139 

 Facilities and maintenance    59   66 

 Depreciation and amortization 10, 11   156   157 

 Other    65   67 

      1,278   1,371 

          

Other (income) and expenses        

 Finance income 6   (2)   (3) 

 Net interest expense relating to employee benefits 14   55   62 

 Other finance costs 6   113   179 

 Other    10   3 

      176   241 

          

Net loss, before income tax and net movement in         

 regulatory deferral accounts    (584)   (612) 

          

 Income tax recovery    (7)   (28) 

          

Net loss, before net movement in regulatory        

 deferral accounts    (577)   (584) 

          

 Net movement in regulatory deferral accounts related        

  to net loss, net of tax 7   577   584 

          

Net income (loss), after net movement in regulatory        

 deferral accounts 1  $ -  $ - 

          

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

Years ended August 31 

(millions of Canadian dollars) 

 Notes  2021  2020 

        

Net income (loss), after net movement in regulatory         

 deferral accounts   $ -  $ - 
           

Other comprehensive income (loss)        

 Items that will not be reclassified to income or (loss)         

  Re-measurements of employee defined benefit plans  14   933   367 

  Net movement in regulatory deferral accounts        

   related to other comprehensive income  7   (933)   (367) 

       -   - 
           

 Items that will be reclassified to income or (loss)        

  Amortization of loss on cash flow hedges    1   1 

  Changes in fair value of cash flow hedges    3   (4) 

  Net movement in regulatory deferral accounts        

   related to other comprehensive income  7   (4)   3 

       -   - 

           

Total other comprehensive income (loss)    -   - 

           

Total comprehensive income (loss) 1  $ -  $ - 

           

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position  

As at August 31 

(millions of Canadian dollars) 

 Notes  2021 2020 

        

Assets        

Current assets        

 Cash and cash equivalents    $ 319  $ 689 

 Accounts receivable and other 8   106   70 

 Investments 9   73   218 

 Other     10   9 

      508   986 

        

Non-current assets        

 Property, plant and equipment 10   717   740 

 Intangible assets 11   819   874 

 Investment in preferred interests 12, 15   299   336 

 Long-term receivables    116   4 

 Investment in equity-accounted investee    7   7 

 Employee benefits    -   4 

    1,958   1,965 

          

Total assets    2,466   2,951 

          

 Regulatory deferral account debit balances 7   1,714   2,112 

          

Total assets and regulatory deferral account        

  debit balances   $ 4,180  $ 5,063 

          

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position  

As at August 31 

(millions of Canadian dollars) 

 Notes  2021 2020 

        

Liabilities        

Current liabilities        

 Bank loan   $ -  $ 223 

 Trade and other payables    204   262 

 Current portion of long-term debt 13   25   275 

 Deferred revenue    8   4 

 Other current liabilities    3   6 

      240   770 

          

Non-current liabilities         

 Long-term debt 13   2,487   2,013 

 Employee benefits 14   1,266   2,042 

 Deferred tax liabilities 12   12   21 

 Lease liability    -   3 

 Other non-current liabilities    1   2 

      3,766   4,081 

          
Total liabilities    4,006   4,851 

          

Equity        

 Retained earnings    28   28 

          

Total equity    28   28 

          

Total liabilities and equity     4,034   4,879 

          

 Regulatory deferral account credit balances  7   146   184 

          

Commitments and contingencies 16, 17       

          

Total liabilities, equity and regulatory         

  deferral account credit balances   $ 4,180  $ 5,063 

          

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

          

On behalf of the Board:        

(Signed) "Marc Courtois"  (Signed) "Linda Hohol" 

Marc Courtois, Director  Linda Hohol, Director 
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 

(millions of Canadian dollars) 

   
Retained 
earnings 

  

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income  

  Total 

          

Balance August 31, 2019  $ 28  $ -  $ 28 

 Net income (loss), after net movement          

  in regulatory deferral accounts   -   -   - 

 Other comprehensive income (loss)   -   -   - 

Balance August 31, 2020  $ 28  $ -  $ 28 

            

Balance August 31, 2020  $ 28  $ -  $ 28 

 Net income (loss), after net movement          

  in regulatory deferral accounts   -   -   - 

 Other comprehensive income (loss)   -   -   - 

Balance August 31, 2021  $ 28  $ -  $ 28 

            

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

Years ended August 31 

(millions of Canadian dollars) 

 Notes  2021  2020 

          

Cash flows from (used in)        

Operating        

 Receipts from customer service charges   $ 652  $ 956 

 Other receipts    47   66 

 Government grants received 18   115   86 

 Payments to employees and suppliers    (1,038)   (1,035) 

 Pension contributions - current service 14   (107)   (89) 

 Other post-employment payments    (8)   (9) 

 Interest payments    (89)   (73) 

 Interest receipts    3   2 

      (425)   (96) 

Investing        

 Capital expenditures    (85)   (132) 

 Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   4   - 

 Proceeds from maturity (purchase) of short-term investments    145   (145) 

      64   (277) 

Financing        

 Net proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 13   498   845 

 Repayment of long-term debt 13   (275)   (25) 

 Net proceeds from (repayment of) bank loans 13   (223)   215 

 Payment of lease liabilities    (3)   (3) 

 Debt service reserve fund    -   (1) 

      (3)   1,031 

Cash flows from (used in) operating, investing and         

 financing activities    (364)   658 

Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents    (6)   1 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    (370)   659 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year    689   30 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   $ 319  $ 689 

          

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 



 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

As at and for the years ended August 31, 2021 and 2020 
(millions of dollars) 
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1.  General information 

NAV CANADA was incorporated as a non-share capital corporation pursuant to Part II of the Canada 
Corporations Act to acquire, own, manage, operate, maintain and develop the Canadian civil air navigation 
system (the ANS), as defined in the Civil Air Navigation Services Commercialization Act (the ANS Act). NAV 
CANADA has been continued under the Canada Not-for-profit Corporations Act. The fundamental principles 
governing the mandate conferred on NAV CANADA by the ANS Act include the right to provide civil air 
navigation services and the exclusive ability to set and collect customer service charges for such services. 
NAV CANADA and its subsidiaries’ (collectively, the Company) core business is to provide air navigation 
services, which is the Company’s only reportable segment. The Company’s air navigation services are 
provided primarily within Canada. 

The charges for civil air navigation services provided by the Company are subject to the economic regulatory 
framework set out in the ANS Act. The ANS Act provides that the Company may establish new charges and 
amend existing charges for its services. In establishing new charges or revising existing charges, the 
Company must follow the charging principles set out in the ANS Act. These principles prescribe that, among 
other things, charges must not be set at levels which, based on reasonable and prudent projections, would 
generate revenue exceeding the Company’s current and future financial requirements in relation to the 
provision of civil air navigation services. Pursuant to these principles, the Board of Directors of the Company 
(the Board), acting as rate regulator, approves the amount and timing of changes to customer service 
charges.  

The Company plans its operations to result in an annual financial breakeven position on the consolidated 
statements of operations after recording adjustments to the rate stabilization account. As a result, the 
Company expects no net change in retained earnings on an annual basis. The impacts of rate regulation on 
the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements (the financial statements) are described in note 7.  

The ANS Act requires that the Company communicate proposed new or revised charges to customers in 
advance of their introduction and to consult thereon. Customers may make representations to the Company 
as well as appeal revised charges to the Canadian Transportation Agency on the grounds that the Company 
either breached the charging principles in the ANS Act or failed to provide statutory notice.  

NAV CANADA is domiciled in Canada. The address of NAV CANADA’s registered office is 77 Metcalfe 
Street, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada K1P 5L6.  

(a) Impact of COVID-19 

Air traffic levels, as measured by weighted charging units (a measure of the number of billable flights, 
aircraft size and distance flown in Canadian airspace and the basis for movement-based service 
charges), increased in the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended August 31, 2021 (fiscal 2021), as 
compared to the fiscal year ended August 31, 2020 (fiscal 2020). The increase in air traffic levels is as a 
result of an increase in passenger demand as travel restrictions imposed by governments are beginning 
to ease and as international borders gradually re-open. It is expected that the COVID-19 pandemic and 
resulting economic contraction will continue to have a significant negative impact on global air traffic and 
the aviation industry in the near-term and the post-pandemic economic recovery is likely to be gradual 
and may be uneven.  

The Company continues to review, monitor and manage spending, while at the same time ensuring the 
continued fulfillment of the Company’s mandate to safely operate and maintain the Canadian air 
navigation system as an essential service and to protect the safety and well-being of its employees, while 
positioning itself to support a post-pandemic recovery in air travel. 

  



 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
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2.  Basis of presentation 

(a) Statement of compliance 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  

These financial statements include the accounts of all NAV CANADA subsidiaries and were authorized 
for issue by the Board on October 21, 2021. 

(b) Basis of measurement 

These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following items: 

• financial instruments that are classified as fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), which are 
measured at fair value; and 

• defined benefit liabilities that are recognized as the net of the present value of defined benefit 
obligations and plan assets measured at fair value. 

(c) Functional and reporting currency 

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars (CDN), which is the Company’s functional 
and reporting currency. All information presented has been rounded to the nearest million dollar unless 
otherwise indicated.  

(d) Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments 
about the future. 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal actual results. The following 
discussion sets forth management’s: 

• most critical judgments in applying accounting policies; and 

• most critical estimates and assumptions in determining the value of assets and liabilities. 

(i) Key sources of estimates and assumption uncertainties 

• Fair value of investment in preferred interests 

The Company’s investment in preferred interests in Aireon LLC (Aireon) is accounted for as a 
financial instrument and designated as FVTPL. Fair value is determined using a discounted cash 
flow model, which considers the present value of expected future payments, discounted using a 
risk-adjusted discount rate. The cash flow projections reflect the continued impact of the COVID-
19 pandemic on international air traffic and the resulting impact on Aireon’s operations and 
revenue. The critical assumptions and estimates used when determining the fair value are:  

(a) discount rates – the discount rate range used is 15% - 17%, which is generally consistent 
with discount rates used by other investors in preferred and common equity interests of 
Aireon; and 

(b) expected timing and amount of future dividend payments – the timing and amount of the 
payments based on Aireon’s forecasted after-tax dividend payment schedule has been 
adjusted to reflect the impact of COVID-19. 

  



 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

As at and for the years ended August 31, 2021 and 2020 
(millions of dollars) 
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2.  Basis of presentation (continued) 

(d) Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued) 

(i) Key sources of estimates and assumption uncertainties (continued) 

• Employee benefits 

Defined benefit plans, other long-term employee benefits, termination benefits, and short-term 
employee benefits require significant actuarial assumptions to estimate the future benefit 
obligations and performance of plan assets. Assumptions include compensation, the retirement 
ages and mortality assumptions related to employees and retirees, health-care costs, inflation, 
discount rate, expected investment performance and other relevant factors. The Company 
consults with an actuary regarding these assumptions at least on an annual basis. Due to the 
long-term nature of these benefit programs, these estimates are subject to significant uncertainty 
and actual results can differ significantly from the Company’s recorded obligations. 

The majority of the Company’s employees are unionized with collective agreements in place. At 
times, one agreement expires before another is in place. Management is required to estimate the 
total employee cost for services rendered for the period, and as a result must estimate the 
retroactive impact of collective agreements when they are finalized. Management’s estimate is 
based on, but not limited to, actual agreements expired, historical experience, number of 
employees affected and current salaries of those employees. 

(e) New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted 

There have been no new standards, amendments or interpretations adopted by the Company effective 
September 1, 2020. 

(f) Future accounting pronouncements 

The IASB has issued a number of standards and amendments in the fiscal year that are not yet effective. 
The Company continues to analyze these standards and amendments to determine the extent of their 
impact on its financial statements. At this time, the Company does not expect to adopt any of these 
standards or amendments before their effective dates. 

The amendments described below are applicable for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2023. The extent of the impact of these amendments on the Company has not yet been determined.  

IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates  

In February 2021, the IASB published Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8) to 
introduce a definition of accounting estimates and include other amendments to IAS 8 to help entities 
distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates. 

IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies  

In February 2021, the IASB issued Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS 
Practice Statement 2) with amendments that are intended to help preparers in deciding which accounting 
policies to disclose in their financial statements. 

(g) Comparative information 

Certain prior year disclosures have been updated for consistency with the current year presentation. 
These changes or reclassifications had no effect on the reported results. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
financial statements.  

(a) Basis of consolidation 

(i) Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. The Company controls an investee when it is 
exposed, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability 
to affect those returns through its power over the investee. The financial statements of subsidiaries 
are included in the financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that 
control ceases. The accounting policies of the subsidiaries are aligned with the policies adopted by 
the Company. All intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated on consolidation.   

The financial statements of the Company include the following subsidiaries: 

  
 Name of subsidiary  

Principal place of business 
and country of incorporation 

 
Percentage 
ownership 

   NAV CANADA Inventory Holding Company Inc.  Canada  100% 

   NAV CANADA ATM Inc.  Canada  100% 

   NAV CANADA Satellite, Inc.  United States  100% 

   NCPP Investment Holding Company Inc.  Canada  100% 

 
(ii) Investments in joint ventures and associates 

A joint venture exists when there is a contractual arrangement that establishes joint control over its 
activities and requires unanimous consent of the parties sharing control for strategic financial and 
operating decisions, and where the parties have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.  

Associates are entities over which the Company is able to exert significant influence but which are 
not subsidiaries. 

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially recognized at 
cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial statements 
include the participant’s share of the net income (loss) and other comprehensive income (OCI) of 
equity-accounted investees, until the date on which joint control or significant influence ceases. The 
Company’s investment in an equity-accounted investee is reduced for distributions received during 
the fiscal year. 

If the Company’s share of losses of an equity-accounted investee equals or exceeds its interest in 
the equity-accounted investee, the Company discontinues recognizing its share of further losses. 
Additional losses are provided for, and a liability is recognized only to the extent the Company has 
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the equity-accounted 
investee. 

The Company owns 50% (August 31, 2020 - 50%) of the issued and outstanding shares of Searidge 
Technologies Inc. (Searidge) which is owned through NAV CANADA ATM Inc. The Company has 
classified its investment in Searidge as an investment in a joint venture. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(a) Basis of consolidation (continued) 

(ii)  Investments in joint ventures and associates (continued) 

As discussed in note 12, the Company is party to an arrangement with Iridium and the additional 
investors which allows the Company to exert significant influence over the strategic financial and 
operating activities of Aireon. The Company’s investment in Aireon is held through NAV CANADA 
Satellite, Inc. This arrangement is an investment in an associate and the Company will have a right 
to the net assets of Aireon upon exercising its right to convert its preferred interests to common 
interests. As at August 31, 2021, the Company’s share of Aireon’s net assets is $nil and therefore 
the Company’s share of Aireon’s net income (loss) and OCI is $nil. Until the Company exercises its 
right to convert its preferred interests to common interests, it does not have access to Aireon’s net 
assets and accordingly this investment is accounted for as a financial instrument. 

(b) Foreign currency 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates in 
effect at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at 
the reporting date are translated into the functional currency at that date. Non-monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in a foreign currency, which are accounted for at historical cost are translated 
using the rate in effect at the date of the initial transaction. Foreign currency gains and losses are 
reported on a net basis in net income (loss) within other income and expenses, except for designated 
cash flow hedges that are recognized in OCI. 

(c) Financial instruments 

(i) Recognition 

 Financial assets and financial liabilities including derivatives are recorded when the Company 
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instruments.  

 Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial 
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

(ii) Classification 

 The Company classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities in the following measurement 
categories: 

• those to be measured subsequently at FVTPL; and  

• those to be measured subsequently at amortized cost. 

 The classification of financial assets depends on the business model for managing the financial 
assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows. Financial liabilities are classified as those to be 
measured at amortized cost unless they are designated as those to be measured subsequently at 
FVTPL. 

(iii) Measurement 

 All financial instruments, other than trade receivables without a significant financing component, are 
required to be measured at fair value on initial recognition. If a financial asset or financial liability is 
not subsequently measured at FVTPL, then the initial measurement includes transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the instrument.  

 Trade receivables without a significant financing component are initially measured at the transaction 
price. 



 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(c) Financial instruments (continued) 

(iii)  Measurement (continued) 

 The Company’s business model objective is to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual 
cash flows are solely payments of principal and/or interest, and as such financial assets are 
generally subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method net of any 
impairment loss. All other financial assets are measured at fair value with changes, including any 
interest or dividend income recognized in net income (loss) or OCI. The Company currently has no 
financial assets measured at fair value through OCI. 

 Financial liabilities are generally subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method unless they are held for trading, they are derivatives or they have been designated 
as those to be measured subsequently at FVTPL. The Company has not designated any financial 
liabilities as measured at FVTPL. 

 Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining 
whether their cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. Embedded derivatives in 
financial liabilities are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and characteristics are not 
closely related to those of the host contract, a separate instrument with the same terms as the 
embedded derivative meets the definition of a derivative, and the combined instrument is not 
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in the fair value of separable embedded 
derivatives are recognized immediately in net income (loss). 

(iv) Impairment 

 The Company uses the “expected credit loss” model for calculating impairment and recognizes 
expected credit losses as a loss allowance in the consolidated statements of financial position if they 
relate to a financial asset measured at amortized cost. For trade receivables, the Company applies 
the simplified approach as permitted by IFRS 9 Financial Instruments which requires lifetime 
expected credit losses be recognized from initial recognition of receivables. The carrying amount of 
these assets in the consolidated statements of financial position is stated net of any loss allowance. 

(v) Derivatives and hedge accounting 

 Derivatives are initially recognized and subsequently re-measured at fair value at each reporting 
date. The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether the derivatives are 
designated as hedging instruments, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged and the type of 
hedge relationship designated. Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments 
designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedging relationships are recognized in OCI. 
Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that have not been designated are 
recognized through net income (loss) as they arise. 

 The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage risks from fluctuations in foreign 
exchange rates. The Company’s derivative assets and liabilities consist of foreign exchange forward 
agreements. The fair values of these derivatives are calculated by discounting expected future cash 
flows based on current forward exchange rates. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(c) Financial instruments (continued) 

(v)  Derivatives and hedge accounting (continued) 

 Where permissible, the Company accounts for these financial instruments as cash flow hedges, 
which ensures that counterbalancing gains and losses are recognized in income in the same period 
as the hedged item. On initial designation of the hedge, the relationship between the hedged item 
and the hedging instrument is formally documented, including the Company’s risk management 
objectives and strategies for undertaking the hedge transaction, together with the methods that will 
be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. The effectiveness of the hedging 
relationship is assessed at inception of the contract related to the hedging item and then again at 
each reporting date to ensure the relationship is and will remain effective. For a cash flow hedge of a 
forecasted transaction, the transaction should be highly probable to occur and should present an 
exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect reported net earnings. 

 Cash flow hedges 

 When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability of cash f lows 
attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or a highly probable 
forecasted transaction that could affect net income (loss), the effective portion of the change in fair 
value of the derivative is recognized in OCI and presented as part of equity. The amount recognized 
in OCI is transferred to net income (loss) under the same line item in the statement of operations as 
the hedged item, in the same period or periods as the hedged cash flows affect net income (loss). 
Any ineffective portion is recognized immediately in net income (loss). 

 If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is sold, 
terminated or exercised, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain 
or loss previously recognized in OCI remains in equity until the anticipated transaction impacts net 
income (loss). If the forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the balance 
accumulated in equity is recognized immediately in net income (loss). 

(d) Employee benefits 

(i) Defined benefit plans 

The defined benefit obligation and estimated costs of the Company’s defined benefit pension plans 
and other post-employment benefits are calculated annually by a qualified actuary using the 
projected unit credit method. The actuarial calculations are performed using management’s 
estimates of expected investment performance, compensation, the retirement ages of employees, 
mortality rates, health-care costs, inflation and other relevant factors. The discount rate is 
determined using the yield at the reporting date on high quality Canadian corporate bonds that have 
maturity dates approximating the terms of the Company’s obligations. The funded status of the plan, 
or defined benefit asset or liability, corresponds to the future benefits employees have earned in the 
current and prior periods, discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets. 
Defined benefit assets or liabilities are presented as non-current items in the statement of financial 
position. 

The Company recognizes all actuarial gains and losses on the plan assets (excluding interest) in 
OCI in the period in which they are incurred, with no subsequent reclassification to net income (loss). 
The Company has made a policy choice to reclassify adjustments in OCI to retained earnings. 

The service costs of employee benefits expense is presented in salaries and benefits. The interest 
arising on net benefit obligations is recognized in net income (loss) and is presented as net interest 
costs relating to employee benefits. A portion of these employee benefit expenses is allocated to the 
cost of assets under development. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(d) Employee benefits (continued) 

(i)  Defined benefit plans (continued) 

When benefits are amended, the portion of the changed benefit relating to past service by 
employees is recognized in net income (loss) immediately. Gains and losses on curtailments or 
settlements are recognized in net income (loss) in the period in which the curtailment or settlement 
occurs.  

The Company’s registered pension plans are subject to minimum funding requirements. The liability 
in respect to minimum funding requirements is determined using the projected minimum funding 
requirements based on management’s best estimates of the actuarially determined funded status of 
the plan, market discount rates, salary escalation estimates, the Company’s ability to take 
contribution holidays and its ability to use letters of credit to secure solvency special payments 
revealed by funding actuarial valuations. 

When the funded status of a plan results in an asset (a plan surplus), the recognized asset is limited 
to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or 
reductions in future contributions to the plan. The Company recognizes any adjustments to this limit 
in OCI in the period incurred, with no subsequent reclassification to net income (loss). 

(ii) Other long-term employee benefits  

The Company provides other long-term benefits to its employees, including long-term disability 
(LTD) benefits, accumulating sick leave benefits (vesting and non-vesting) and long-term executive 
incentive plan benefits. The LTD benefits plan is funded. The same methodology and management 
estimates are used to value other long-term benefits as in the defined benefit plans; however the 
actuarial gains and losses are included in net income (loss) in the period when they occur. The net 
amount of long-term employee benefit expense is presented in salaries and benefits expense net of 
any costs allocated to assets under development. 

(iii) Termination benefits  

Termination benefits are recognized as an expense in net income (loss) when the Company has 
committed to either terminate employment or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer 
made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits for voluntary departures are recognized as an 
expense when it is probable that a voluntary departure offer will be accepted and the number of 
acceptances can be estimated. When benefits are payable more than 12 months after the reporting 
date, they are discounted.  

(iv) Short-term employee benefits  

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis, taking into 
account the additional amount the Company expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement at 
the reporting date. Expenses are recognized in net income (loss) as the services are provided. 
Short-term employee benefits include salaries, vacation and other leave. 

(e) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if applicable. The cost of property, plant and equipment includes expenditures that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of assets under development includes the 
cost of materials, direct labour and employee benefits, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the 
asset to a working condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and 
restoring the site on which they are located when a legal commitment or constructive obligation exists for 
them. Borrowing costs for qualifying assets are capitalized in accordance with the Company’s accounting 
policy as described in note 3 (h). 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(e) Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

Costs subsequent to initial recognition are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognized as a 
separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the 
asset will flow to the Company and its cost can be measured reliably. Repairs and maintenance costs are 
recorded in the statement of operations during the period in which they are incurred.  

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for 
as components of property, plant and equipment and are depreciated separately. Depreciation begins 
when construction is complete and the asset is available for use. Land and assets under development are 
not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is recognized in the statement of operations on a straight-
line basis over the following estimated useful lives: 
 

  Assets   
Estimated useful life  

(years) 

  Buildings   15 to 40 

  Systems and equipment   3 to 25 

 
Estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted 
prospectively if appropriate, at each reporting date.  

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal, replacement or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the asset is 
determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal to the carrying amount of the asset. Such gains and 
losses are recognized in the statement of operations in the period in which the asset is derecognized. 

Other contributions to property, plant and equipment 

Amounts received from third parties, with whom the Company does not have a customer relationship, 
related to the installation, development or construction of property, plant and equipment, are deducted 
from the carrying amount of the asset. 

(f) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, 
if applicable. The expenditures capitalized include the cost of materials, direct labour and any other costs 
that are directly attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use. Borrowing costs for qualifying 
assets are capitalized in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy as described in note 3 (h). 

An internally-developed intangible asset arising from development is recognized if all of the following 
criteria for recognition have been met: technical feasibility of completing the asset, intent and ability to 
complete the asset, intent and ability to use or sell the asset, determination on how the intangible asset 
will generate future benefits, availability of technical, financial and other resources to complete the 
development and to use or sell the asset, and ability to reliably measure attributable expenditures. 
Research costs are expensed in the statement of operations as incurred. 

Costs subsequent to initial recognition are capitalized only when they increase the future economic 
benefits embodied in the specific assets to which they relate and the expenditures can be measured 
reliably; otherwise they are recorded within operating expenses in the statement of operations.  

The Company has the right under the ANS Act to provide civil air navigation services and the exclusive 
ability to set and collect customer service charges for such services. While the ANS Act does not limit the 
duration of these rights, for accounting purposes the Company’s air navigation right will be fully amortized 
by 2042, which is the recovery period established by the Board, acting as the rate regulator. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(f) Intangible assets (continued) 

Amortization of other intangible assets begins when development is complete and/or the asset is 
available for use. It is amortized over the period of expected future benefit. Amortization of intangible 
assets is recognized in the statement of operations on a straight-line basis over the following estimated 
useful lives: 
 

  Assets   
Estimated useful life 

(years) 

  Air navigation right   46 

  Purchased software   5 to 20 

  Internally-developed software    5 to 20 

 
Intangible assets under development are not amortized.  

Estimated useful lives, residual values and amortization methods are reviewed, and adjusted 
prospectively if appropriate, at each annual reporting date. 

An intangible asset is derecognized upon disposal, replacement or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition is determined by comparing the 
proceeds from disposal to the carrying amount of the asset. Such gains and losses are recognized in the 
statements of operations as other income or expense in the period in which the asset is derecognized. 

(g) Impairment of non-financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Company reviews its property, plant and equipment and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If so, the 
assets’ recoverable amount is estimated. Assumptions in assessing the recoverable amount relate to the 
continuing right to provide civil air navigation services and the exclusive ability to set and collect customer 
service charges for such services. If changes in any such expectations arise, impairment charges may be 
required which could materially impact operating results. Assets under development are tested annually 
for impairment. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit (CGU) is the greater of its fair value less 
costs to sell and its value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. If the recoverable amount of an asset or 
CGU is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is reduced 
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized as an expense immediately in net income 
(loss). 

Where an asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Company 
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. Because the ANS is operated 
as a system, it is not possible in a meaningful way to isolate the cash flow that is attributable to individual 
assets within the system. Thus the air navigation system is considered to be a single CGU. When there 
are assets within the system that are no longer required, a separate valuation of these specific assets 
occurs.   
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(g) Impairment of non-financial assets (continued) 

Regulatory deferral account balances are anticipated to either be returned or recovered through the 
Company’s customer service charges as approved by the rate regulator per the charging principles set 
out in the ANS Act. To determine whether there is any indication that regulatory deferral account assets 
are impaired, the Company reviews its ability to recover regulatory deferral account balances through 
future customer service charges for the provision of civil air navigation services as defined by the ANS 
Act. 

(h) Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are 
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are ready for their intended use or sale. 
Qualifying assets are those that necessarily take greater than one year to prepare for their intended use. 
All other borrowing costs are recognized in the statements of operations using the effective interest 
method. 

(i) Provisions 

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting estimated future cash flows, 
adjusted for risks specific to the liability, using a risk-free rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money. Increases in the provision due to the passage of time (the unwinding of the 
discount) are recognized as a finance cost.  

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect current estimates.  

Decommissioning liabilities are recognized when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation to 
dismantle and remove an asset and restore the site on which the asset is located. When the liability is 
initially recorded, an equivalent amount is capitalized as an inherent cost of the associated buildings, 
systems or equipment. All changes in the decommissioning provision resulting from changes in the 
estimated future costs or significant changes in the discount rate are added to or deducted from the cost 
of the related asset in the current period. The capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful l ife of the 
capital asset. 

(j) Regulatory deferral accounts 

The timing of recognition of certain revenue and expenses differs from what would otherwise be expected 
for companies that are not subject to regulatory statutes governing the level of their charges, the effect of 
which is described in note 7. 

The Company’s approach to determining the level of customer service charges is based upon the 
charging principles set out in the ANS Act which prescribe, among other things, that charges must not be 
set at levels which, based on reasonable and prudent projections, would generate revenues exceeding 
the Company’s current and future financial requirements in relation to the provision of civil air navigation 
services. Pursuant to these principles, the Board, acting as rate regulator, approves the amount and 
timing of changes to customer service charges.  

In January 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts (IFRS 14) as an interim 
standard, permitting entities conducting rate-regulated activities to continue to recognize regulatory 
deferral account balances according to their previous generally accepted accounting principles. IFRS 14 
is restricted to first-time adopters of IFRS and remains in force until either repealed or replaced by 
permanent guidance on rate-regulated accounting. The Company recognized regulatory deferral account 
balances in its Canadian GAAP financial statements prior to adopting IFRS and elected to early adopt this 
standard as of September 1, 2014 when it adopted IFRS. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(j) Regulatory deferral accounts (continued) 

In order to mitigate the effect on its operations of unpredictable and uncontrollable factors, principally 
unanticipated fluctuations in air traffic levels, the Company maintains a rate stabilization mechanism. 
Amounts are added to or deducted from the rate stabilization account based upon variations from 
amounts used when establishing customer service charges. In addition, for certain transactions where the 
timing of the cash flows differs significantly from the accounting recognition, the Company recognizes 
other regulatory deferral amounts in order to defer the accounting recognition to the period in which they 
will be considered for rate setting. These certain transactions are generally considered for rate setting 
when the amounts are expected to be realized in cash, with the exception of the cash flows related to 
hedging instruments, which are considered for rate setting in the same period as the underlying hedged 
transaction. 

(k) Revenue 

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and is 
recognized as the Company satisfies the performance obligations in the contract and transfers control 
over a product or service to a customer. 

(i) Customer service charges 

The majority of the Company’s revenues are from customer service charges for air navigation 
services. Revenue is recognized as air navigation services are rendered. Rates for customer service 
charges are those approved by the Board, acting as rate regulator.  

Refunds of customer service charges are recognized when approved by the Board, acting as rate 
regulator, or when a constructive obligation exists. 

The Company’s general payment terms provide for payment periods of thirty days for a ir navigation 
services, but shorter payment terms are imposed where customer circumstances warrant. Our credit 
policies also require payments in advance or satisfactory security to be posted under certain 
circumstances.  

(ii) Service and development contracts 

Revenue is recognized as services are rendered. Revenue from a contract to provide services is 
generally recognized on a straight line basis over the period of service.  

In general, revenue for development contracts is recognized as performance obligations are satisfied 
over time. Revenue is recognized by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at 
the end of the reporting date, measured using the cost-to-cost measure of progress. Under the cost-
to-cost measure of progress, the extent of progress toward completion is measured based on the 
ratio of costs incurred to date to the total estimated costs at completion of the performance 
obligation. Revenue is recorded proportionally as costs are incurred.  

Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward completion are revised if circumstances 
change. Any resulting increase or decrease in estimated revenues or costs are reflected in profit or 
loss in the period in which the circumstances that give rise to the revision become known by 
management. 

In some cases, revenue is recognized at a point in time, when performance obligations are satisfied; 
typically upon completion of the contract.  

When management determines that it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract 
revenue, the expected loss is recognized as an expense immediately. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(k) Revenue (continued) 

Contract balances 

The timing of revenue recognition, billings and cash collections results in billed accounts receivable or 
unbilled receivables (accounts receivable and other), and customer advances and deposits (deferred 
revenue) on the consolidated statements of financial position.  

Customer service charges are billed on a monthly basis in line with revenue recognition, resulting in 
accounts receivable. The exception to this are annual / quarterly charges, which generally apply to 
propeller aircraft and are billed annually or quarterly and deferred and recognized over the period in which 
services are rendered, resulting in deferred revenue. 

For service and development contracts, amounts are billed as work progresses in accordance with 
agreed-upon contractual terms, either at periodic intervals or upon achievement of contractual 
milestones. Depending on the timing of revenue recognition in relation to billing, it may result in accrued 
or deferred revenue. 

(l) Leases 

The Company enters into leases for buildings in the normal course of business. Lease contracts are 
typically made for fixed periods but may include renewal or termination options. 

The Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at the inception of the contract. A 
lease contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange 
for consideration. To assess whether a contract contains a right to control the use of an identified asset, 
the Company assesses whether: 

• the contract involves the use of an identified asset; 

• the Company has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the 
identified asset throughout the period of use; and 

• the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset. 

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost, comprised of the initial measurement of the 
corresponding lease liabilities (see below), adjusted for lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date, and initial direct costs, less any lease incentives received. They are subsequently 
depreciated on a straight-line basis to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the underlying asset or the 
end of the lease term. Right-of-use assets are reduced by impairment losses, if any.  

Lease liabilities are recognized with the corresponding right-of-use assets for all lease agreements. 

Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of the future lease payments, discounted using 
our incremental borrowing rate on the date of initial recognition. Lease payments included in the 
measurement of a lease liability include: 

• fixed lease payments, less any lease incentives; 

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate; 

• payments relating to renewal option periods that are reasonably certain to be exercised (or 
periods subject to termination options that are not reasonably certain to be exercised). 

They are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  

Lease liabilities are remeasured, with a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets, when 
there is a change in variable lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or when the 
Company changes its assessment of whether renewal or termination options will be exercised. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(l) Leases (continued) 

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of 
lease liabilities or right-of-use assets. The related payments are expensed in operating expenses in the 
period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs. 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. 

(m) Finance income and other finance costs 

Finance income comprises interest income on investments and changes in the fair value of financial 
assets at FVTPL. Interest income is recognized as it accrues in net income (loss), using the effective 
interest method. 

Other finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, 
changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL, interest expense on leases and impairment losses 
recognized on financial assets. Interest expense on borrowings is recognized in net income (loss) as it 
accrues, using the effective interest method. 

(n) Income taxes 

(i) Current taxes 

NAV CANADA is exempt from income taxes as it meets the definition of a not-for-profit organization 
under the Income Tax Act (Canada); however its subsidiaries operating in Canada and other 
jurisdictions are subject to Canadian and foreign taxes. 

(ii) Deferred taxes 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the tax effect of the difference between carrying 
values and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible 
temporary differences, for unused tax losses and income tax reductions to the extent that it is 
probable that they will be able to be utilized against future taxable income. Deferred tax liabilities are 
recognized for the amounts of income taxes payable in future periods in respect of taxable 
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reviewed at each reporting date and 
are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related benefit or liability will be 
realized.  

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted 
tax rates and tax laws at the reporting date that are expected to apply to their respective period of 
realization. These amounts are reassessed each period in the event of changes in income tax rates. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, when there is the legal right and intention to set off 
current tax assets and liabilities from the same taxation authority. 

(o) Segmented reporting 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources 
and assessing performance of operations, has been identified as the Company’s President and Chief 
Executive Officer. The Company's core business is to provide air navigation services, for which it collects 
customer service charges. The core business is the Company's only reportable segment. The Company's 
air navigation services are provided primarily within Canada. Substantially all of the Company's capital 
expenditures and assets are located in Canada. 
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4.  Revenue  

Customer service charges by type of air navigation service provided for the years ended August 31 were as 
follows:  

   2021  2020 

 Enroute (1)  $ 455  $ 476 

 Terminal (2)   284   364 

 Daily / annual / quarterly (3)   22   53 

 North Atlantic and international communication (4)   54   37 

   $ 815  $ 930 

 
Air traffic levels, as measured by weighted charging units, decreased 32.7% year over year. The significant 
decrease in air traffic levels and associated customer service charges is due to the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic, which impacted revenue commencing in the third quarter of fiscal 2020. 

(1) Charges related to air navigation services provided or made available to aircraft during the enroute 
phase of the flight, whether they overfly Canadian-controlled airspace or take-off and/or land in 
Canada. This performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time. 

(2) Charges related to air navigation services provided or made available to aircraft at or in the vicinity of 
an airport. This performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time. 

(3) Charges related to enroute and terminal air navigation services. These charges generally apply to 
propeller aircraft and the performance obligations are satisfied over the period in which air navigation 
services are made available. 

(4) Charges related to certain air navigation and communication services provided or made available to 
aircraft while in airspace over the North Atlantic Ocean. These services are provided outside of 
Canadian sovereign airspace but for which Canada has air traffic control responsibility pursuant to 
international agreements. The international communication charges also include services provided or 
made available while in Canadian airspace in the north. These performance obligations are satisfied 
at a point in time. 

The Company has one customer representing more than 10% of revenue for fiscal 2021. Revenue from that 
customer was $155, representing 18% of the Company’s fiscal 2021 revenue. In fiscal 2020, revenue from 
the same customer was $233, representing 23% of the Company’s fiscal 2020 revenue, and revenue from 
the second largest customer was $104, representing 10% of the Company’s fiscal 2020 revenue. The 
revenue from these major customers arose from air navigation services. 

Other revenue for fiscal 2021 consists primarily of service and development contracts revenue of $41 (fiscal 
2020 - $50). 
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5.  Salaries and benefits 

Salaries and benefits expenses for the years ended August 31 were comprised of the following: 

   2021  2020 

 Salaries and other  $ 673  $ 776 

 Government grant (1)   (114)   (86) 

 Severance and termination costs (2)   27   - 

 Curtailment expense (note 14)   12   - 

 Fringe benefits (excluding pension)   71   69 

 Pension current service cost   201   223 

 Less: capitalized salaries and benefits   (33)   (40) 

   $ 837  $ 942 

(1) Receipts under the Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy (CEWS) program, which the Company started to 
receive beginning in May 2020, have been recorded as a reduction to Salaries and benefits expenses. 
Refer to note 18 for more details on the CEWS program.  

(2) On September 22, 2020 and December 9, 2020, the Company announced workforce reductions through 
the elimination of permanent jobs. The job cuts were across all departments and included operational 
students. These reductions were undertaken to address the significant impact of the COVID-19 pandemic 
on air traffic levels and associated revenues. As of August 31, 2021, severance and termination costs of 
$17 have been paid.  

 
6.  Finance income and other finance costs 

Finance income and other finance costs for the years ended August 31 were comprised of the following:  

    2021  2020 

 Finance income       

  Interest income on financial assets at amortized cost  $ (3)  $ (2) 

  Net change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL   1   (1) 

  $ (2)  $ (3) 

 Other finance costs       

  Net change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL  (1)  $ 24  $ 100 

  Interest expense on financial liabilities at amortized cost   91   81 

  Less: Capitalized borrowing costs   (2)   (2) 

  $ 113  $ 179 

 
(1)  Net change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL recognized in Other finance costs is largely related 

to the reduction in the fair value of the Company’s investment in preferred interests of Aireon as 
discussed in note 12. 
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7.  Financial statement impact of regulatory accounting 

(a)  Regulatory Deferral Accounts 

In accordance with disclosures required for entities subject to rate regulation, the Company’s regulatory 
deferral account balances are as follows: 

      August 31  Regulatory  Recovery/  August 31  Recovery 

      2020  deferral  reversal  2021  Period 

 

Regulatory deferral account debit 
balances 

             

  Rate stabilization account (b)  $ 255  $ 401  $ -  $ 656  1) 

  Derivatives   4   (3)   (1)   -  2), 8) 

  Deferred income tax   21   (9)   -   12  3) 

  Employee benefits:               

   Accumulating sick leave (c)   23   2   (2)   23  4) 

   Other post-employment benefits               

    re-measurements    26   (5)   (7)   14  5), 9) 

   Pension contributions (d)   371   147   -   518  6) 

   Pension re-measurements (d)   1,306   (914)   -   392  6), 9) 

   Supplemental pension               

    re-measurements    38   (14)   (5)   19  5), 9) 

  Realized hedging transaction   68   -   (1)   67  2), 8) 

  Decommissioning liability   -   1   -   1  12) 

  Allowance for expected credit losses   -   12   -   12  13) 

      $ 2,112  $ (382)  $ (16)  $ 1,714   

 

Regulatory deferral account (credit) 
balances  

            

  Derivatives  $ (1)  $ -  $ 1  $ -  2), 8) 

  Employee benefits:               

   Long-term disability contributions   (5)   -   (1)   (6)  7) 

  Change in the fair value of the                

   investment in preferred interests    (171)   37   -   (134)  3) 

  Investment in equity-accounted investee (4)   -   -   (4)  10) 

  Realized hedging transaction   (2)   -   1   (1)  2), 8) 

  Lease offset   (1)   -   -   (1)  11) 

      $ (184)  $ 37  $ 1  $ (146)   
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7.  Financial statement impact of regulatory accounting (continued) 

(a)  Regulatory Deferral Accounts (continued) 

      August 31  Regulatory  Recovery/  August 31  Recovery 

      2019  deferral  reversal  2020  Period 

 

Regulatory deferral account debit 
balances 

             

  Rate stabilization account (b)  $ -  $ 255  $ -  $ 255  1) 

  Derivatives   -   4   -   4  2), 8) 

  Deferred income tax   48   (27)   -   21  3) 

  Employee benefits:               

   Accumulating sick leave (c)   27   -   (4)   23  4) 

   Other post-employment benefits               

    re-measurements    31   2   (7)   26  5), 9) 

   Pension contributions (d)   194   177   -   371  6) 

   Pension re-measurements (d)   1,653   (347)   -   1,306  6), 9) 

   Supplemental pension               

    re-measurements    64   (22)   (4)   38  5), 9) 

  Realized hedging transaction   70   -   (2)   68  2), 8) 

      $ 2,087  $ 42  $ (17)  $ 2,112   

 

Regulatory deferral account (credit) 
balances  

            

  Rate stabilization account (b)  $ (93)  $ -  $ 93  $ -  1) 

  Derivatives   (1)   -   -   (1)  2), 8) 

  Employee benefits:               

   Long-term disability contributions   (1)   -   (4)   (5)  7) 

  Change in the fair value of the                

   investment in preferred interests   (274)   103   -   (171)  3) 

  Investment in equity-accounted investee (3)   (1)   -   (4)  10) 

  Realized hedging transaction   (4)   -   2   (2)  2), 8) 

  Lease offset   -   (1)   -   (1)  11) 

      $ (376)  $ 101  $ 91  $ (184)   

 
1) In order to mitigate the effect on its operations of unpredictable and uncontrollable factors, principally 

unanticipated fluctuations in air traffic levels, the Company maintains a rate stabilization mechanism. 
Amounts are added to or deducted from the rate stabilization account based upon variations from 
amounts used when establishing customer service charges. 

In addition, for certain transactions where the timing of the cash flows differs significantly from the 
accounting recognition, the Company recognizes other regulatory deferral accounts in order to defer 
the accounting recognition to the period in which they will be considered for rate setting.  
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7.  Financial statement impact of regulatory accounting (continued) 

(a)  Regulatory Deferral Accounts (continued) 

2) Cash flow hedges are considered for rate setting in the same period as the underlying hedged 
transaction.  

Fair value losses (gains) on foreign exchange forward contracts are considered for rate setting in the 
period that they are realized.  

3) The regulatory deferrals related to the Company’s investment in Aireon are considered for rate setting 
when they are realized in cash through the receipt of dividends net of tax. As discussed in note 12, 
the reduction in fiscal 2021 and fiscal 2020 is as a result of the change in the fair value of the 
Company’s investment in preferred interests of Aireon. 

4) Non-vesting accumulating sick leave is considered for rate setting when the sick leave benefits are 
used and paid in cash. Vested accumulating sick leave is considered for rate setting over the period 
in which the employees render service. 

5) These re-measurement amounts will be recovered by amortizing the prior years’ annual re-
measurements over the expected average service period of the plan members. 

6) The Company’s cost of pension benefits for its funded plans are considered for rate setting based on 

the Company’s cash contributions to the pension funds as described in note 7 (d) below. Pension 

adjustments related to the adoption of IFRS and subsequent re-measurements are deferred and 

considered for rate setting purposes as cash contributions to the pension funds are made.  

The Company made solvency deficiency contributions of $44 for the year ended August 31, 2017 

(fiscal 2017) that were deferred. During the year ended August 31, 2018, $10 was recovered and the 

remaining $34 is expected to be recovered through future customer service charges. 

Included in the pension contribution regulatory deferral of $147 is the deferral of curtailment expense 

of $12 (see note 14), which is included in the net movement in regulatory deferral accounts related to 

net income (loss). 

7) The Company recovers the annual cost of the LTD contributions to the funded plan as they are paid 
in cash. 

8) The net movement in regulatory deferral accounts related to OCI due to changes in fair value of cash 
flow hedges for fiscal 2021 of $4 is comprised of $1 related to the amortization of losses on realized 
hedging transactions to net income (loss) and $3 to defer negative fair value adjustments related to 
derivatives designated as cash flow hedges. 

9) The net movement in regulatory deferral accounts related to OCI due to re-measurements of 
employee defined benefit plans for fiscal 2021 consists of pension re-measurement gains of $914, 
supplemental pension re-measurement gains of $14 and other post-employment benefits re-
measurement gains of $5.  

10) The unrealized gain on the Company’s remaining 50% interest in Searidge, as well as its share of 
Searidge’s net assets, are considered for rate setting when realized in cash net of tax (e.g. through a 
sale of all or a portion of the Company’s interest or the receipt of dividends).  

11) The Company is deferring the non-cash impacts of accounting for its head office lease in accordance 
with IFRS 16 using regulatory accounting. Only actual cash payments made by the Company are 
included for rate setting purposes. 

12) The Company is deferring the non-cash impact of accounting for its decommissioning liability. Only 
actual cash payments will be included for rate setting purposes. 
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7.  Financial statement impact of regulatory accounting (continued) 

(a)  Regulatory Deferral Accounts (continued) 

13) The Company is deferring the non-cash impact of accounting for lifetime expected credit losses in 
accordance with IFRS 9 using regulatory accounting. See note 15 for discussion of the impact on the 
Company’s credit risk. Only write-offs of receivables, should they occur, will be included for rate 
setting purposes. 

The cumulative difference between total regulatory debit balances and total regulatory credit balances is 
reflected in equity at each reporting date. 

The Company does not use a rate of return to reflect the time value of money for any of its regulatory deferral 
account balances. 

The table below shows the impact of rate stabilization adjustments and net movement in regulatory deferral 
accounts on the net income (loss) as reported in the consolidated statements of operations: 

      Years ended August 31 

  2021  2020 

        

  Revenue  $ 870  $ 1,000 

  Operating expenses   1,278   1,371 

  Other (income) and expenses   176   241 

  Income tax recovery   (7)   (28) 

 Net loss, before net movement in regulatory deferral accounts   (577)   (584) 

  Rate stabilization adjustments (b)   401   348 

  Other regulatory deferral account adjustments:       

   Employee benefit pension contributions   147   177 

   Other employee benefits   (13)   (18) 

   Investment in preferred interests, before tax   37   103 

   Income tax   (9)   (27) 

   Allowance for expected credit losses   12   - 

   Other   2   1 

       176   236 

  Net movement in regulatory deferral accounts  577   584 

 Net income (loss), after net movement in       

  regulatory deferral accounts $ -  $ - 

 
(b)  Rate Stabilization Account 

The rate stabilization account balance is comprised of operating deferrals. Should actual revenue exceed 

the Company’s actual expenses, such excess is reflected as a credit to the rate stabilization account. 

Conversely, should actual revenue be less than actual expenses, such shortfall is reflected as a debit to 

the rate stabilization account. A debit balance in the rate stabilization account represents amounts 

recoverable through future customer service charges, while a credit balance represents amounts 

returnable through reductions in future customer service charges. 
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7.  Financial statement impact of regulatory accounting (continued) 

(b)  Rate Stabilization Account (continued) 

When establishing customer service charges, the Board considers the balance in the rate stabilization 

account, the extent to which operating costs are variable and available liquidity and sets the level as 

appropriate.  

The table below shows the net movements in the rate stabilization account: 

       Years ended August 31 

       2021  2020 

         

  Rate stabilization account (debit) credit       

  balance, beginning of period  $ (255)  $ 93 

            

   Variances from planned results:       

    Revenue lower than planned   (228)   (518) 

    Operating expenses lower than planned   95   194 

    Other (income) and expenses higher than planned   (35)   (112) 

    Net movement in other regulatory deferral accounts   62   123 

   Total variances from planned results   (106)   (313) 

   Initial approved adjustment (1)   (295)   (35) 

   Net movement in rate stabilization account       

    recorded in net income (loss)   (401)   (348) 

            

  Rate stabilization account debit balance, end of period  $ (656)  $ (255) 

 
(1) In order to achieve breakeven results of operations after the application of rate regulated accounting, 

the Board approved the fiscal 2021 budget with an increase to the debit position of the rate 
stabilization account as a result of a planned shortfall of $295 (fiscal 2020 - $35), which has been 
reflected in the rate stabilization account evenly throughout the fiscal year. 

(c) Employee benefits – accumulating sick leave debit balances 

    August 31  August 31 

    2021  2020 

  Non-vesting accumulating sick leave  $ 17  $ 17 

  Vested accumulating sick leave   6   6 

  Total accumulating sick leave   $ 23  $ 23 
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7.  Financial statement impact of regulatory accounting (continued) 

(d) Pension Contributions 

Included in regulatory deferral account debit balances as at August 31, 2021 is $518 relating to the 
recovery through customer service charges of pension contributions (August 31, 2020 - $371). The 
accrued pension benefit liability, net of regulatory deferrals is as follows: 

      August 31  August 31 

      2021  2020 

  Employee benefit liability  $ (876)  $ (1,643) 

  Less:       

   Regulatory deferrals of non-cash adjustments   392   1,306 

  Benefit contributions less than benefit expense  $ (484)  $ (337) 

  Regulatory debit balances - recovery of contributions  $ 518  $ 371 

  Regulatory expense cumulatively less than contributions  $ 34  $ 34 

 
The Company uses a regulatory approach to determine the net charge to net income (loss) for pension 
benefit costs for its funded plans. The objective of this approach is to reflect the cash cost of the funded 
pension plans in net income (loss) by recording an adjustment to the related regulatory deferral account. 
These regulatory adjustments are the difference between the pension benefit costs as determined by IAS 
19 Employee Benefits and the annual going concern cash cost of the plan. Included in the regulatory 
deferral related to pension contributions of $518, is the recovery of $10 of solvency deficiency 
contributions of $44 paid in fiscal 2017. The remaining balance of $34 is expected to be recovered 
through future customer service charges. The funding of employee pension benefits as compared to the 
expense, net of regulatory adjustments, recorded in the consolidated statements of operations is 
summarized below. 

      Years ended August 31 

      2021  2020 

  Consolidated statements of operations       

   Pension current service expense (1)  $ 198  $ 218 

   Curtailment expense (2)   12   - 

   Net interest expense (1)   45   50 

   Less: Regulatory deferrals   (147)   (177) 

       108   91 

  Company cash pension contributions       

   Going concern current service   108   91 

         
  Regulatory recovery of fiscal 2017 solvency contributions  $ -  $ - 

 
(1) For fiscal 2021, pension current service expense does not include $3 related to the Company’s 

unfunded pension plan (fiscal 2020 - $5) and net interest expense does not include $4 related to the 
Company’s unfunded pension plan (fiscal 2020 - $4). 

(2) The Company recorded a curtailment expense on its pension benefit plans which is included in 
salaries and benefits expense. The curtailment expense results from workforce reductions in the first 
half of fiscal 2021 which resulted in a significant reduction of active employees covered by the plan. 
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8.  Accounts receivable and other 

Accounts receivable and other were comprised of the following: 

   August 31  August 31 

   2021  2020 

 Trade receivables  $ 85  $ 51 

 Accrued receivables and unbilled work in progress   33   15 

 Commodity taxes receivable   1   4 

 Allowance for expected credit losses (1)   (13)   - 

   $ 106  $ 70 

 
(1) The Company’s exposure to credit and foreign exchange risks and to impairment losses related to 

accounts receivable is described in note 15. 

 
9.  Current investments 

Current investments were comprised of the following: 

   August 31  August 31 

   2021  2020 

 Short-term investments (a)  $ -  $ 145 

 Debt service reserve fund (b)   73   73 

   $ 73  $ 218 

 
(a)  Short-term investments have maturities greater than three months but less than one year and are 

generally held to maturity. 

(b) Pursuant to the Master Trust Indenture (MTI) (note 13), the Company is required to establish and 
maintain certain reserve funds. 
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10.  Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are comprised of the following: 

    
Land and 
buildings(1)  

Systems      
and equipment  

Assets under 
development  Total 

 Cost             

  Balance at August 31, 2019  $ 280  $ 714 (2) 
$ 148 (2) 

$ 1,142 

  IFRS 16 transitional amount   9   -   -   9 

  Additions   -   -   67   67 

  Transfers   5   86 (2) 
 (91) (2) 

 - 

  Balance at August 31, 2020  $ 294  $ 800  $ 124  $ 1,218 

               

  Balance at August 31, 2020  $ 294  $ 800  $ 124  $ 1,218 

  Additions   -   -   66   66 

  Derecognition   (1)   -   -   (1) 

  Disposals   -   (4)   (1)   (5) 

  Transfers   48   19   (67)   - 

  Balance at August 31, 2021  $ 341  $ 815  $ 122  $ 1,278 

               

 Accumulated depreciation              

  Balance at August 31, 2019  $ 69  $ 323  $ -  $ 392 

  Depreciation    21   65   -   86 

  Balance at August 31, 2020  $ 90  $ 388  $ -  $ 478 

               

  Balance at August 31, 2020  $ 90  $ 388  $ -  $ 478 

  Depreciation   23   64   -   87 

  Disposals   -   (4)   -   (4) 

  Balance at August 31, 2021  $ 113  $ 448  $ -  $ 561 

               

 Carrying amounts             

  At August 31, 2020  $ 204  $ 412 (2) 
$ 124 (2) 

$ 740 

  At August 31, 2021  $ 228  $ 367  $ 122  $ 717 

 
(1) Included in Land and buildings is the right-of-use asset related to the Company’s head office lease. 

Depreciation of $3 was recognized during fiscal 2021 (fiscal 2020 - $3). The carrying amount as at August 
31, 2021 is $3 (August 31, 2020 - $6). 

(2) Includes reclassification of amounts previously reported.  
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11.  Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are comprised of the following: 

   

Air                 
navigation 

right  
Purchased 
software  

Internally 
developed 
software  

Assets under 
development  Total 

 Cost               

  Balance at August 31, 2019 $ 702  $ 195  $ 258 (1) $ 46 (1) $ 1,201 

  Additions  -   -   -   39   39 

  Transfers  -   3   25 (1)  (28) (1)  - 

  Balance at August 31, 2020 $ 702  $ 198  $ 283  $ 57  $ 1,240 

                 

  Balance at August 31, 2020 $ 702  $ 198  $ 283  $ 57  $ 1,240 

  Additions  -   -   -   25   25 

  Disposals  -   (5)   (4)   (9)   (18) 

  Transfers  -   6   23   (29)   - 

  Balance at August 31, 2021 $ 702  $ 199  $ 302  $ 44  $ 1,247 

                 

 Accumulated amortization                

  Balance at August 31, 2019 $ 125  $ 83  $ 87  $ -  $ 295 

  Amortization   25   19   27   -   71 

  Balance at August 31, 2020 $ 150  $ 102  $ 114  $ -  $ 366 

                 

  Balance at August 31, 2020 $ 150  $ 102  $ 114  $ -  $ 366 

  Amortization   25   17   27   -   69 

  Disposals  -   (4)   (3)   -   (7) 

  Balance at August 31, 2021 $ 175  $ 115  $ 138  $ -  $ 428 

                 

 Carrying amounts               

  At August 31, 2020 $ 552  $ 96  $ 169 (1) $ 57 (1) $ 874 

  At August 31, 2021 $ 527  $ 84  $ 164  $ 44  $ 819 

 
(1) Includes reclassification of amounts previously reported. 
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12.   Investment in preferred interests of Aireon 

In November 2012, the Company entered into agreements (the November 2012 agreements) setting out the 
terms of its participation in Aireon, a joint venture with Iridium. Aireon’s mandate is to provide global satellite-
based surveillance capability for ANSPs around the world through Automatic Dependent Surveillance-
Broadcast (ADS-B) receivers built as an additional payload on the Iridium NEXT satellite constellation. Aireon 
commenced operations on March 27, 2019. 

In December 2013, the November 2012 agreements were amended (the December 2013 agreements) to 
provide for the making of an aggregate investment of $151 CDN ($120 U.S.) in Aireon by three additional 
major ANSPs, namely ENAV (Italy), the Irish Aviation Authority (IAA), and Naviair (Denmark).  

In May 2018, the December 2013 agreements were amended to provide for the making of an investment of 
$87 CDN ($69 U.S.) in Aireon by NATS. 

In accordance with the governing agreements, a portion of Iridium's existing common equity interest in 
Aireon will be redeemed for a payment from Aireon of $151 CDN ($120 U.S.) to finalize the ownership 
interests of all of Aireon’s investors. Upon this redemption and the related conversion of all preferred 
interests into common equity interests, NAV CANADA will hold 45.3% of the fully diluted common equity 
interests of Aireon, ENAV and NATS will each hold 11.1%, and each of IAA and Naviair will hold 5.3%, with 
the remaining 21.8% being retained by Iridium. This redemption is expected to occur by January 2, 2024. 

As at August 31, 2021, the Company’s cash investment in Aireon is $189 CDN ($150 U.S.) (August 31, 2020 
- $196 CDN ($150 U.S.)). The Company is represented by five out of the eleven directors on Aireon’s board 
of directors. As at August 31, 2021, the Company’s total fully diluted common equity interest on a post 
conversion basis and prior to the redemption by Iridium is 37.2% (August 31, 2020 - 37.2%). 

The Company’s investment in preferred interests of Aireon provides for a 5% annual cumulative dividend 
(except for the $50 CDN ($40 U.S.) second stage investment that provides for a 10% annual cumulative 
dividend), calculated from the date of issuance. The preferred interests are redeemable for cash in three 
annual instalments beginning in January 2024 in the event the preferred interests have not been converted to 
common equity or redeemed by that time. The cash payments for these mandatory redemptions will include 
any unpaid dividends.  

The Company may at any time and from time to time elect to convert all or a portion of its preferred interests 
in Aireon into common equity interests.  

As long as the conversion feature remains unexercised, the Company’s investment in preferred interests 
does not give the Company any rights to the residual net assets of Aireon and accordingly the investment is 
accounted for as a financial instrument classified and measured at FVTPL as discussed in note 2(d)(i).  

As at August 31, 2021, the Company measured the fair value of its investment in preferred interests of 
Aireon at $299 CDN ($237 U.S.) (August 31, 2020 - $336 CDN ($258 U.S.)). Included in the fair value 
presented in the statement of financial position are dividends receivable of $80 CDN ($64 U.S) (August 31, 
2020 - $76 CDN ($58 U.S.)). 
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12.   Investment in preferred interests of Aireon (continued) 

The Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as at August 31, 2021 relate to its investment in Aireon 
held in one of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries. Aireon is a limited liability company that is 
headquartered in the United States and is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and 
therefore is generally not subject to income taxes directly. Rather, the Company, Iridium and the additional 
investors are each allocated a portion of Aireon’s taxable income (loss) based on their respective tax basis 
interests in Aireon’s income or loss under U.S. tax regulations. The Company has recognized deferred tax 

liabilities amounting to $70 CDN (August 31, 2020 - $67 CDN) primarily related to the fair value of the 

Company’s investment in Aireon. The Company has recognized deferred tax assets amounting to $58 CDN 

(August 31, 2020 - $46 CDN) for operating losses and research and development expenses carried forward 

that have been allocated to the Company’s subsidiary. The recognition of deferred tax assets is based on 
management’s assessment that their realization is probable. The deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
presented net on the consolidated statements of financial position as a deferred tax liability as noted in the 
table below. 

The table below shows the impact of the Company’s investment in preferred interests of Aireon and the 
impact of the use of regulatory accounting on the Company’s consolidated statements of financial position: 

     August 31  August 31 

     2021  2020 

 Investment in preferred interests  $ 299  $ 336 

 Deferred tax liability   (12)   (21) 

 Financial position impact before regulatory accounting  $ 287  $ 315 

          

 Regulatory deferral account debit balances       

  Deferred regulatory income tax liability  $ 12  $ 21 

          

 Regulatory deferral account credit balances       

  Cumulative change in fair value of the investment in       

   preferred interests  $ (134)  $ (171) 

          

 Net financial position impact after regulatory accounting  $ 165  $ 165 

 
After regulatory accounting, the Company’s investment in preferred interests of Aireon on the statement of 
financial position reflects the actual amounts paid by the Company (at the exchange rates prevailing on the 
dates of the transactions). The use of regulatory deferral accounts defers the accounting recognition of 
transactions related to the Company’s investment in Aireon on the Company’s consolidated statements of 
operations. As a result, there is no net impact on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for 
the year ended August 31, 2021 related to the Company’s investment in Aireon. These amounts are not 
considered for rate setting purposes until realized in cash through the receipt of dividends net of tax.   
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12.   Investment in preferred interests of Aireon (continued) 

Aireon’s fiscal year end is December 31. IAS 28 limits the difference between the end of the reporting period 
of an associate or joint venture and that of the investor to no more than three months and requires adjustment 
to the results for any significant transactions that occur during the intervening period. The Company has 
chosen a two-month lag period and therefore the August 31, 2021 and August 31, 2020 information 
presented below is based on Aireon’s financial position and financial performance as at June 30, 2021 and 
June 30, 2020, respectively. All amounts are translated from U.S. dollars.  

No significant transactions occurred during the intervening periods that were necessary to adjust for in 
Aireon’s financial information presented as at and for the year ended August 31, 2021. 

      August 31  August 31 

      2021  2020 

 Current assets       

  Cash and cash equivalents  $ 38  $ 40 

  Other current assets   22   53 

 Non-current assets       

  Property, plant and equipment   450   521 

  Other non-current assets   65   3 

      $ 575  $ 617 

 Current liabilities       

  Trade and other payables  $ (7)  $ (10) 

  Deferred revenue   (2)   (2) 

 Non-current liabilities       

  Financial liabilities   (1,154)   (1,137) 

      $ (1,163)  $ (1,149) 

 Net assets  $ (588)  $ (532) 

 

   Years ended August 31 

   2021  2020 

 Revenue  $ 109  $ 82 

 Interest expense  $ 90  $ 97 

 Depreciation  $ 51  $ 54 

 Net loss  $ (89)  $ (151) 

 Other comprehensive income   33   13 

 Total comprehensive loss  $ (56)  $ (138) 
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13.  Long-term debt 

As NAV CANADA is a non-share capital corporation, the Company’s initial acquisition of the ANS and its 
ongoing requirements are financed with debt. Until February 21, 2006, all indebtedness was incurred and 
secured under a MTI that provided the Company with a maximum borrowing capacity, which declines each 
year. On February 21, 2006, the Company entered into a new indenture (the General Obligation Indenture 
(GOI)) that established an unsecured borrowing program that qualifies as subordinated debt under the MTI. 
The borrowing capacity under the GOI does not decline each year. In addition, there is no limit on the 
issuance of notes under the GOI so long as the Company is able to meet an additional indebtedness test. 

(a) Security 

The MTI established a borrowing platform secured by an assignment of revenue and the debt service 
reserve fund (note 9). At the end of each fiscal year, the amount in the debt service reserve fund must be 
equal to or greater than the annual projected debt service requirement (principal amortization, interest 
and fees) on outstanding MTI obligations determined in the manner required by the MTI. Any additional 
contributions required to be made to the debt service reserve fund must, at a minimum, be made in equal 
instalments over the following four fiscal quarters. Funds deposited into the debt service reserve fund are 
held by a trustee in high-quality short-term money market instruments and are released only to pay 
principal, interest and fees owing in respect of outstanding borrowings under the MTI except that, 
provided no event of default has occurred and is continuing, surplus funds may be released from time to 
time at the request of the Company.   

Pursuant to the MTI, the Company is required to maintain an operations and maintenance reserve. The 
operations and maintenance reserve may be used to pay operating and maintenance expenses, if 
required. If at any fiscal year end the amount in the operations and maintenance reserve is less than 25% 
of the Company’s operating and maintenance expense for the year (before other regulatory deferral 
account adjustments, depreciation, amortization, finance costs, OCI and unusual expenses), the 
Company must, at a minimum, increase the balance in the reserve to the required level over the following 
four fiscal quarters through additional contributions or an allocation of its committed credit facility. 

The GOI is unsecured but provides a set of positive and negative covenants similar to those of the MTI. In 
addition, under the terms of the GOI, no further indebtedness may be incurred under the MTI; 
furthermore, the amount of the Company’s $850 syndicated bank credit facility (note 15 (c)) that is 
secured under the MTI is limited to the declining amount of outstanding bonds issued under the MTI. At 
August 31, 2021, this amount is $400 and will decline by $25 on March 1 of every year in conjunction with 
the annual principal repayment of the series 97-2 amortizing bonds. The remaining $450 of the $850 
credit facility ranks pari passu to the borrowings under the GOI and will increase by $25 on March 1 of 
each year to offset the decline in the amount secured under the MTI. 

As bonds mature or are redeemed under the MTI, they may be replaced with notes issued under the GOI. 
Borrowings under the GOI are unsecured and repayment is subordinated and postponed to prior payment 
of MTI obligations unless the Company can meet an additional indebtedness test. 

Pursuant to the GOI, the Company is required to maintain certain liquidity levels similar to the reserve 
fund requirements of the MTI. Specifically, the Company must maintain a minimum liquidity level equal to 
12 months net interest expense on all debt plus 25% of the annual operating and maintenance expenses 
of the previous fiscal year. Liquidity is defined to include all cash and qualified investments, amounts held 
in the operations and maintenance and debt service reserve funds and any undrawn amounts available 
under a committed credit facility. In addition, the Company must maintain cash liquidity equal to 12 
months net interest expense on all debt. Cash liquidity includes cash and qualified investments held in the 
reserve funds maintained under the MTI. 
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13.  Long-term debt (continued) 

(b) Debt 

The Company’s outstanding debt was comprised of the following: 

       August 31  August 31 

       2021  2020 

  Bonds and notes payable       

   Issued under the Master Trust Indenture:       

    $250 face value 7.40% revenue bonds,        

     series 96-3, maturing June 1, 2027  $ 250  $ 250 

    $500 initial face value 7.56% amortizing revenue bonds,       

     series 97-2, maturing March 1, 2027   150   175 

        400   425 

   Issued under the General Obligation Indenture:       

    $300 face value 0.937% general obligation notes,        

     series 2021-1, maturing February 9, 2026 (1)   300   - 

    $200 face value 0.555% general obligation notes,        

     series 2021-2, maturing February 9, 2024 (1)   200   - 

    $550 face value 2.924% general obligation notes,        

     series 2020-1, maturing September 29, 2051   550   550 

    $300 face value 2.063% general obligation notes,        

     series 2020-2, maturing May 29, 2030    300   300 

    $250 face value 3.209% general obligation notes,        

     series MTN 2019-1, maturing September 29, 2050   250   250 

    $275 face value 3.293% general obligation notes,        

     series MTN 2018-1, maturing March 30, 2048   275   275 

    $250 face value 3.534% general obligation notes,        

     series MTN 2016-1, maturing February 23, 2046   250   250 

    $250 face value 4.397% general obligation notes,        

     series MTN 2011-1, matured February 18, 2021 (1)   -   250 

        2,125   1,875 

  Total bonds and notes payable   2,525   2,300 

   Adjusted for deferred financing costs and discounts   (13)   (12) 

  Carrying value of total bonds and notes payable   2,512   2,288 

   Less: current portion of long-term debt (2)   (25)   (275) 

  Total long-term debt  $ 2,487  $ 2,013 
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13.  Long-term debt (continued) 

(b) Debt (continued) 

(1) The Company issued these General Obligation Notes on February 9, 2021. The net proceeds were 
used to repay the $250 Series MTN 2011-1 General Obligation Notes, and the remaining proceeds 
are being used for general corporate purposes. 
 

(2) The current portion of long-term debt relates to the annual amortization payment of $25 for the Series 
97-2 amortizing revenue bonds. 

The bonds and notes payable are redeemable in whole or in part at the option of the Company at any 
time at the higher of par and the Canada yield price plus a redemption premium. The Series 97-2 bonds 
are amortizing bonds repayable in 20 consecutive equal annual instalments of $25 principal on March 1 
of each year until maturity on March 1, 2027. 

The Company is in compliance with all covenants of the MTI and GOI as at August 31, 2021.  

For information about the Company’s exposure to interest rate and liquidity risk, see note 15. 

 

14. Employee benefits 

The Company maintains defined benefit plans that provide pension and other post-employment benefits to 
employees. Long-term employee benefit plans provide accumulating sick leave benefits (vested and non-
vesting), LTD benefits and long-term executive incentive plan benefits. Pension (other than the supplemental 
pension plan) and LTD benefits are funded. Other post-employment benefits and other long-term employee 
benefits are not funded. The Company has recorded net defined pension and other post-employment benefits 
expenses as follows for the years ended August 31: 

     Pension benefit plans  Other benefit plans 

      2021   2020   2021   2020 

 Statement of operations             

  Current service costs  $ 201  $ 223  $ 7  $ 7 

  Curtailment expense   12   -   -   - 

  Interest cost   237   240   6   6 

  Interest income on plan assets   (189)   (186)   -   - 

  Total expense  $ 261  $ 277  $ 13  $ 13 

                

 Statement of other comprehensive income             

  Re-measurements:             

  Return on plan assets, excluding interest             

   income on plan assets  $ (446)  $ (276)  $ -  $ - 

  Actuarial (gains) losses   (482)   (93)   (5)   2 

  Total (income) cost recognized in             

   other comprehensive income (loss)  $ (928)  $ (369)  $ (5)  $ 2 

 
Net interest costs relating to employee benefits of $55 for fiscal 2021 (fiscal 2020 - $62) are comprised of 
interest costs and interest income on plan assets as noted above for pension benefit plans and other benefit 
plans, including an additional $1 (fiscal 2020 - $2) of interest costs related to long-term sick leave benefits. 
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14. Employee benefits (continued) 

During fiscal 2021, the Company recorded a curtailment expense on its pension benefit plans of $12 which is 
included in salaries and benefits expense. The curtailment expense results from workforce reductions in the 
first half of fiscal 2021 which resulted in a significant reduction of active employees covered by the plan. 

The balances of employee benefits recorded on the consolidated statements of financial position are as 

follows: 

   August 31  August 31 

   2021  2020 

 Present value of funded defined benefit obligations  $ (8,192)  $ (8,441) 

 Fair value of plan assets   7,316   6,798 

 Liability for funded defined benefit obligations  $ (876)  $ (1,643) 

 Liability for unfunded pension defined benefit obligations   (116)   (128) 

 Liability for unfunded other defined benefit obligations   (224)   (224) 

 Recognized liability for defined benefit plans   (1,216)   (1,995) 

 Long-term employee benefit liabilities   (50)   (47) 

 Total long-term employee benefit liabilities  $ (1,266)  $ (2,042) 

        
The most recent actuarial funding valuations were carried out as at January 1, 2021. 

The Company has determined that in accordance with: 

• the terms and conditions of the funded defined benefit pension plans,  

• statutory requirements (such as minimum funding requirements, the ability to take contribution 
holidays, and the ability to use letters of credit to secure solvency special payments revealed by 
funding actuarial valuations), and  

• the assumptions and methodology adopted to calculate the economic benefit available,  

the present value of reductions in future contributions is not lower than the balance of the total fair value of the 
plan assets plus any minimum funding requirement in respect of past service less the total present value of 
obligations. As such, no increase in the defined benefit liability is necessary as at August 31, 2021 and 
August 31, 2020. 

(a) Characteristics of defined benefit plans 

The Company has established and maintains defined benefit pension plans for its employees. The plans 
provide benefits based on age, length of service and best average earnings. Employee contribution rates 
vary by position and by plan. The Company is the administrator and sponsoring employer for registered 
defined benefit pension plans that are funded. In addition, the Company maintains a Supplemental 
Retirement Plan (the Supplemental Plan) that is not funded. The Company’s net obligation in respect of 
the defined benefit pension plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future 
benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit 
is discounted to determine its present value.  
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14. Employee benefits (continued) 

(a) Characteristics of defined benefit plans (continued) 

(i) The NAV CANADA Pension Plan (the Plan) was established on November 1, 1996 to provide pension 

benefits to the employees of the Company. The Plan was established pursuant to an agreement with 

the Federal Government to provide continuity of pension and other benefits to the employees who 

transferred to the Company from the public service. 

The Plan is a defined benefit plan covering substantially all salaried employees of the Company. The 
Plan is registered under the federal Pension Benefits Standards Act, 1985 (PBSA). Effective January 
1, 2009, the Plan consists of two parts: Part A is the contributory part that provides benefits under the 
original plan, and Part B is the non-contributory part provided to (a) all new management hires on a 
mandatory basis after January 1, 2009, (b) effective January 1, 2014, to new hires represented by six 
of eight unions, (c) effective October 1, 2014 and effective December 1, 2014, respectively, to all new 
represented hires of the remaining two unions. Prior to these effective dates, participation in Part B 
was voluntary for employees represented by these unions. 

Under the Plan, contributions are made by the Plan members (Part A only) and the Company, which 
is the Plan sponsor. Part A Plan members contribute at predetermined rates. The Company is 
required to contribute the balance of the funding necessary for Part A and Part B to ensure that 
benefits will be fully provided. The determination of the value of these benefits is made on the basis of 
an annual actuarial valuation for funding purposes performed as at January 1. 

The Plan provides, under both Part A and Part B, a benefit based on pensionable service and the 
average of the best six years’ pensionable earnings (five years for members represented by 
CATCA/Unifor) prior to retirement or termination. Pensionable benefits are reduced at age 65 due to 
CPP/QPP integration. The two plan parts have different calculation formulas that include benefit 
entitlement, CPP/QPP integration and early retirement reductions. A separate Supplemental Plan has 
been implemented by the Company to provide for benefits that exceed the maximum amount 
allowable under the ITA for registered pension plans.  

Pensions are fully indexed during retirement to increases in the Consumer Price Index for Part A 
members and on an ad-hoc basis for Part B members. 

The investment objective of the Plan is to provide for the security of the promised benefits under the 
Plan at a reasonable cost. In order to achieve this objective, the Plan has adopted a Liability-Driven 
Investment (LDI) strategy. The strategy aims to reduce and manage the interest rate and inflation risk 
mismatch between the Plan’s assets and liabilities and to balance the risk/reward trade-offs in the 
selection of a long-term asset mix. 

  



 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

As at and for the years ended August 31, 2021 and 2020 
(millions of dollars) 

 

 

45 

14. Employee benefits (continued) 

(a) Characteristics of defined benefit plans (continued) 

(ii) The Company also maintains the NAV CANADA Executive Pension Plan (the Executive Plan) which 
is a non-contributory defined benefit plan covering certain senior executive employees of the 
Company. This plan is also registered under the PBSA. Members are neither required nor permitted 
to make contributions to the Executive Plan, other than direct rollover contributions on admission to 
the Executive Plan or remittances by members to purchase remaining eligible pensionable service 
under the members’ former registered pension plan (prior service buy back). Contributions are made 
by the Company, the Executive Plan sponsor. The Company is required to contribute the funding 
necessary to ensure that benefits will be fully provided. The determination of the contribution level is 
made on the basis of an annual actuarial valuation for funding purposes. 

Effective January 1, 2021 and subject to the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions 
Canada’s (OSFI) approval, the Executive Plan will be merged into the Plan, with executive 
pensionable service accruing before April 1, 2022 continuing to be defined by the current Executive 
Plan provisions, but within the Plan. With the relative sizes of the plans, the merger has minimal 
impact on the Plan and no impact on the Company’s aggregate obligations. However, until OSFI 
grants its approval, the plans will continue to operate independently. 

(iii) The Company also provides other post-employment benefits for its employees including certain 
health care, life insurance and retiring allowance benefits to eligible retirees and their eligible 
dependents. Other post-employment benefits are not funded. 

Benefit payments for the defined benefit pension plans are made from trustee administered funds, and 
benefit payments for the unfunded Supplemental Plan and other post-employment benefit plans are met 
by the Company as the benefit payment obligations come due. The defined benefit plans' assets are held 
in trust and are governed by PBSA regulations. The Pension Committee, a committee of the Board, 
oversees the investment management of the plans’ assets and administration of the Company’s 
retirement plans, which include the Company’s registered pension plans and the Supplemental Plan.  

On September 22, 2020, the Company announced changes to Part A of the Plan. Effective April 1, 2022, 
all future pensionable service for management employees currently under Part A, will be recognized 
under Part B. The Part B terms will also apply to executive employees currently participating in the 
Executive Pension Plan from the same date. 

(b) Pension plan funding requirements 

Actuarial valuations for pension funding purposes are performed annually as at January 1 and are 
required to be filed with OSFI by June of the same year. The January 1, 2021 funding valuation was filed 
with OSFI in June 2021. 

Once the valuations are filed, going concern pension contributions are based on the January 1, 2021 
actuarial valuations, with a retroactive adjustment to the beginning of the calendar year. The regulations 
governing the funding of federally regulated pension plans require actuarial valuations to be performed on 
both a going concern and a solvency basis. The actuarial valuations performed as at January 1, 2021, 
including the impact of the merger, reported a going concern surplus of $1,297 (January 1, 2020 - $933) 
and a statutory solvency deficiency of $501 (January 1, 2020 - $192). 
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14. Employee benefits (continued) 

(b) Pension plan funding requirements (continued) 

The Company’s contributions to its defined benefits plans were as follows: 

      Years ended August 31 

       2021   2020 

   Funded pension plan       

    Going concern current service costs  $ 108  $ 91 

   Unfunded pension plan   4   3 

   Unfunded other defined benefit plans   8   9 

    Less: capitalized amounts   (5)   (5) 

      $ 115  $ 98 

 
On a preliminary basis, going concern pension contributions for fiscal 2022 are estimated to be $98 with 
no requirement for cash special payments expected. 

The funding period for solvency deficiencies is five years and past deficits are consolidated on a 
permanent basis for establishing solvency special payments, resulting in a fresh start every year. Funding 
of solvency deficits is based on an average of solvency ratios over the three most recent consecutive 
years (statutory solvency deficiency).  

The Company has the option of meeting its pension solvency funding requirements with letters of credit or 
cash contributions, with the maximum letters of credit based on 15% of solvency liabilities. As at August 
31, 2021, the Company has put in place letters of credit totaling $594 to meet its cumulative pension 
solvency funding requirements, including $61 in fiscal year 2021. Outstanding letters of credit represent 
7% of solvency liabilities. 

The amount of required Company contributions and additional letters of credit in future years will be 
dependent on the investment experience of plan assets, the discount rates and other assumptions that 
will be used in future actuarial valuations to determine plan liabilities, as well as any changes in pension 
plan design or funding requirements that may be enacted. 
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14. Employee benefits (continued) 

(c) Movements in defined pension benefit plans and other post-employment employee benefit plans 

The movement in the defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment employee benefit plans 
as at August 31 was as follows: 

       Pension benefit plans   Other benefit plans 

       2021   2020   2021   2020 

  Change in benefit obligations             

   Defined benefit obligations at             

    August 31, prior year  $ 8,569  $ 8,400  $ 224  $ 218 

   Benefits paid    (260)   (232)   (8)   (9) 

   Plan participants' contributions   31   31   -   - 

   Current service cost    201   223   7   7 

   Interest cost   237   240   6   6 

   Curtailment expense   12   -   -   - 

   Actuarial loss (gain) from change in              

    demographic assumptions   -   (25)   -   1 

   Actuarial loss (gain) from change in              

    financial assumptions   (461)   (157)   (9)   1 

   Actuarial loss (gain) arising from              

    experience adjustments   (21)   89   4   - 

   Defined benefit obligations at August 31  $ 8,308  $ 8,569  $ 224  $ 224 

                 

  Change in plan assets             

   Fair value of plan assets at             

    August 31, prior year  $ 6,798  $ 6,443  $ -  $ - 

   Return on plan assets, excluding             

     interest income   446   276   -   - 

   Interest income   189   186   -   - 

   Employer contributions   112   94   8   9 

   Plan participants' contributions   31   31   -   - 

   Benefits paid   (260)   (232)   (8)   (9) 

   Fair value of plan assets at August 31  $ 7,316  $ 6,798  $ -  $ - 

                 
  Net defined benefit liability  $ (992)  $ (1,771)  $ (224)  $ (224) 

                 

   Liability for unfunded defined benefit             

    obligations at August 31  $ (116)   (128)   (224)   (224) 

   Liability for funded defined benefit             

    obligations at August 31  $ (876)  $ (1,643)  $ -  $ - 
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14. Employee benefits (continued) 

(d) Fair value measurement of pension plan assets 

The composition of the plan assets by major category of the Company’s funded pension plans is as 

follows: 

    August 31, 2021   August 31, 2020 

  

  
Quoted market 

price in an active 
market  

No quoted 
market price in 

an active market  

Quoted market 
price in an active 

market  

No quoted 
market price in 

an active market 

  Equities   19%   22%   19%   16% 

  Fixed income(1)   0%   33%   0%   38% 

  Real assets   0%   15%   0%   16% 

  Absolute return strategies   0%   6%   0%   5% 

  Private debt   0%   5%   0%   5% 

  Cash   0%   0%   1%   0% 

     19%   81%   20%   80% 

 
(1) The LDI strategy (discussed in (g) below) is comprised of a 1.9:1 leveraged portfolio of long Canadian 

nominal and real return bonds. Leverage is achieved largely through the use of sale and repurchase 
agreements. As at August 31, 2021, the strategy represented 28% of net plan assets with leverage 
providing an additional 25% exposure (fiscal 2020 - 26%). 

 
(e) Actuarial assumptions 

Principal actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted averages) are as follows: 

    Funded plans  Unfunded plans 

    August 31  August 31  August 31  August 31 

    2021  2020  2021  2020 

  Discount rate, defined benefit obligations  3.10%  2.80%  2.99%  2.69% 

  Discount rate, defined benefit expense  2.80%  2.90%  2.69%  2.86% 

  Future salary increases  2.40%  2.40%  2.40%  2.40% 

  Medical cost trend rate  N/A  N/A  5.00%  5.00% 

  Inflation  2.00%  2.00%  2.00%  2.00% 

 
The average rate of salary increases is expected to be equal to the rate of inflation with an adjustment for 
merit and productivity gains. An increase of 5.0% in drug and other health benefit costs were assumed for 
fiscal 2021 and all years thereafter. 
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14. Employee benefits (continued) 

(e) Actuarial assumptions (continued) 

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published statistics and mortality tables. As at 
August 31, longevities (in years) underlying the values of the liabilities in the defined benefit plans are as 
follows: 

     2021   2020 

  Longevity at age 65 for current pensioners       

    Males   23.1   23.0 

    Females   24.9   24.8 

  Longevity at age 65 for current members age 45       

    Males   24.0   24.0 

    Females   25.8   25.7 

 
As at the annual measurement date of August 31, 2021, the weighted-average duration of the defined 
benefit obligation was 18.1 years (August 31, 2020 – 19.1 years). 

(f) Sensitivity analysis 

In the sensitivity analysis shown below, the defined benefit obligation is determined using the same 
method used to calculate the defined benefit obligation recognized in the statement of financial position. 
The assumptions used are the weighted average rates. The method used is consistent between all 
periods presented. The sensitivity is calculated by changing one assumption (or set of assumptions, in 
relation to the assumptions for salary, indexation and government benefit increases) while holding the 
others constant. The actual change in defined benefit obligation will likely be different from that shown in 
the table, since it is likely that more than one assumption considered independently will change, and that 
some assumptions are correlated. 

    
Change in 

assumption 
+ or - 

 Defined benefit obligation  Benefit cost 

     Assumption  Assumption  Assumption  Assumption 

     increase  decrease  increase  decrease 

  Discount rate  0.25%  $ (371)  $ 397  $ (23)  $ 23 

  
Salary, indexation, government 

             

   benefit increases 0.25%  $ 370  $ (347)  $ 23  $ (21) 

  Health care trend rate 1%  $ 24  $ (20)  $ 1  $ (1) 

  Longevity (in years) for those              

   currently aged 65 1 year  $ 270  $ (274)  $ 14  $ (14) 
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14. Employee benefits (continued) 

(g) Risks associated with the defined benefit plans 

The nature of these benefit obligations exposes the Company to a number of risks, the most significant of 
which is funding risk. Funding risk can be expressed as the probability of an unusually high level of 
required pension contributions or significant fluctuation in required pension contributions.  

Adverse changes in the value of plan assets of funded plans, long-term return and inflation expectations, 
interest rates and life expectancy could have a significant impact on pension funding requirements. The 
funded plan invests in assets that expose it to a range of investment risks. It has strategies, policies and 
processes in place to manage these risks. More specifically, funding risk is managed as follows: 

(i) interest rate and inflation risks are managed via implementation of a LDI strategy that focuses on 
reducing the interest rate and inflation risk mismatch between the plan assets and its pension benefit 
obligations; and 

(ii) market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk related to the plan assets are managed through diversification 
amongst different asset classes, securities, risk factors and geographies while adhering to 
established investment policies, guidelines and collateral requirements. 

 
15.  Financial instruments and financial risk management 

Summary of financial instruments 

Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the consolidated statements of financial position are classified 
using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the observability of the inputs used in making the measurements. 
The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: 

Level 1 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
Company can access at the measurement date.  

Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the assets 
or liabilities either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

Level 3 Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). 

The Company recognizes any transfers between levels of the fair value measurement hierarchy at the 
beginning of the fiscal year in which the change occurs. There have been no transfers between levels of the 
fair value hierarchy since August 31, 2020. 

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value is an exit price, 
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. The 
calculation of estimated fair value is based on market conditions at a specific point in time and therefore may 
not be reflective of future fair values. 
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15.  Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued) 

Summary of financial instruments (continued) 

The following table presents the carrying amount of the Company’s financial instruments, by classification 
category and includes the fair value hierarchy classification for each financial instrument. Excluding long-term 
debt, the carrying amount approximates the fair value for all of the Company’s financial instruments. 

      August 31, 2021 

          Fair 

      Amortized    value 

      Cost  FVTPL  hierarchy 

 Financial assets          

  Cash and cash equivalents (1)  $ 319  $ -   

  Accounts receivable and other   105   -   

  Current investments          

   Debt service reserve fund   73   -   

  Investment in preferred interests (2)   -   299  Level 3 

  Long-term receivables (3)   116   -   

      $ 613  $ 299    

 Financial liabilities          

  Trade and other payables          

   Trade payables and accrued liabilities  $ 201  $ -   

  Other current liabilities          

   Derivative liabilities (4)   -   1  Level 2 

  Long-term debt (including current portion)          

   Bonds and notes payable (5)   2,512   -  Level 2 

      $ 2,713  $ 1    
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15.  Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued) 

 Summary of financial instruments (continued) 
              
      August 31, 2020 

          Fair 

      Amortized    value 

      Cost  FVTPL  hierarchy 

              
 Financial assets          

  Cash and cash equivalents (1)  $ 689  $ -   

  Accounts receivable and other   66   -   

  Current investments          

   Short-term investments (6)   145   -    

   Debt service reserve fund   73   -   

  Investment in preferred interests (2)   -   336  Level 3 

  Long-term receivables   4   -    

      $ 977  $ 336    

               Financial liabilities          

  Bank loan (7)  $ 223  $ -   

  Trade and other payables          

   Trade payables and accrued liabilities   255   -   

  Other current liabilities          

   Derivative liabilities (4)   -   3  Level 2 

  Long-term debt (including current portion)          

   Bonds and notes payable (5)   2,288   -  Level 2 

  Other non-current liabilities          

   Long-term derivative liabilities (4)   -   1  Level 2 

      $ 2,766  $ 4    

 
(1) As at August 31, 2021, cash and cash equivalents include $nil of highly liquid instruments with original 

terms to maturity of less than three months (August 31, 2020 - $430).  

(2) This instrument is recorded at fair value based on the valuation technique described in note 12. 

(3) Long-term receivables include $112 of deferred payments related to the September 1, 2020 customer 
service charge increase as described in note 15 (b) (August 31, 2020 - $nil) and $3 loan receivable 
from Searidge (August 31, 2020 - $3). 

(4) Current and non-current derivative assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value determined using 
prevailing foreign exchange market rates and interest rates at the reporting date.  

(5) The fair value of the Company’s bonds and notes payable is classified as Level 2 in the fair value 
hierarchy as it is determined using secondary market ask prices at the reporting date. As at August 31, 
2021, the fair value was $2,722 (August 31, 2020 - $2,659) inclusive of accrued interest of $26 
(August 31, 2020 - $27). 

(6) Short-term investments were instruments invested in Canadian government T-bills, earning fixed rates 
of interest, averaging 0.24%, with an original maturity of more than three months. 

(7) This bank loan was drawn from the Company’s syndicated credit facility in the form of a Banker’s 
Acceptance and has a discount rate based on the Canadian Dollar Offered Rate plus an applicable 
margin. 
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15.  Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued) 

Level 3 financial instruments 

The following table summarizes the changes in the fair value of the Company’s investment in preferred 
interests of Aireon, which is classified as Level 3: 

     2021  2020 

 Fair value as at August 31  $ 336  $ 439 

  Net decrease in fair value (1)   (24)   (100) 

  Effect of foreign exchange (2)   (13)   (3) 

 Fair value as at August 31  $ 299  $ 336 

 
(1) Net decrease in fair value includes accrued dividend income and is included in Other finance costs on the 

consolidated statements of operations. 

(2) Included in Other (within Other (income) and expenses) on the consolidated statements of operations. 

For the fair value of the investment in preferred interests of Aireon, reasonably possible changes at the 
reporting date to one of the significant unobservable inputs, holding other inputs constant, would have the 
following effects on net income (loss): 

       Increase  Decrease 

 Number of years over which cash flow is expected         

  (change of 1 year)    $ (38)  $ 50 

 Risk-adjusted discount rate (1% movement (100 basis points))    $ (25)  $ 38 

 
Derivative financial instruments 

From time to time, the Company holds forward dated interest rate swap agreements and bond and foreign 
exchange forward agreements to hedge risks from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and interest rates. 
The time frame and manner in which the Company manages these risks varies for each item based upon the 
Company’s assessment of the risk and available alternatives for mitigating the risk. Details of the derivative 
financial instruments for which the Company has applied hedge accounting are as follows:  

(1) The Company holds foreign exchange forward agreements with a total notional value of $58 CDN ($45 
U.S.) to hedge monthly payments to Aireon related to satellite surveillance costs for the fiscal year ending 
August 31, 2022 (fiscal 2022). The average contract rate is 1.274837. The carrying amount of these 
contracts is $1 as at August 31, 2021, which is included in current liabilities. 

As at August 31, 2020, the Company held foreign exchange forward agreements to purchase a total of 
$59 CDN ($43 U.S.) with an average rate of 1.37151. The carrying amount of these contracts was $3 as 
at August 31, 2020 and is included in current liabilities. 

(2) The Company holds foreign exchange forward agreements with a notional value of approximately $2 
each to purchase a total of $9 CDN ($7 U.S.) to hedge payments related to the Company’s insurance 
premiums in fiscal 2022. The average contract rate is 1.265784. The carrying amount of these contracts 
is $nil as at August 31, 2021. 

As at August 31, 2020, the Company held foreign exchange forward agreements to purchase a total of $9 
CDN ($6 U.S.) with an average rate of 1.37716. The carrying amount of these contracts was $nil as at 
August 31, 2020. 
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15.  Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued) 

Derivative financial instruments (continued) 

The Company’s hedging relationships are subject to ineffectiveness should the timing of the forecasted 
transaction not occur as intended, when actual amounts significantly differ to the estimates, or as a result of 
changes in counterparty risk. For the years ended August 31, 2021 and 2020, the derivatives designated as 
cash flow hedges were considered to be fully effective and no ineffectiveness has been recognized in net 
income (loss). 

For the year ended August 31, 2021, a gain of $3 was recorded in OCI (August 31, 2020 - loss of $4). 

Financial risk management 

The Company is exposed to several risks as a result of holding financial instruments. The following is a 
description of these risks and how they are managed. 

(a)  Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, foreign 
exchange risk and other price risk. The objective of market risk management is to contain market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters, as set out in the Company’s treasury policy that is approved by 
the Board. 

(i) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  

The following table summarizes financial assets and liabilities exposed to interest risk: 

        August 31   August 31 

        2021   2020 

   Floating rate financial assets       

    Cash and cash equivalents  $ 319  $ 259 

    Debt service reserve fund investments   73   73 

   Total floating rate financial assets  $ 392  $ 332 

            

   Fixed rate financial assets       

    Cash and cash equivalents  $ -  $ 430 

    Short-term investments   -   145 

   Total fixed rate financial assets  $ -  $ 575 

            

   Floating rate financial liabilities       

    Bank loan  $ -  $ 223 

          

   Fixed rate financial liabilities       

    Bonds and notes payable (1)  $ 2,512  $ 2,288 

 
(1) Bonds and notes payable includes both short-term and long-term portion.   
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15.  Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued) 

Financial risk management (continued) 

(a)  Market risk (continued) 

(i) Interest rate risk (continued) 

Instruments included in the Company's cash and cash equivalents and debt service reserve fund 
earn interest at prevailing and fluctuating market rates. If interest rates decline, earnings on these 
instruments would fall. A 100 basis point change in variable interest rates would result in an annual 
difference of approximately $4 in the Company’s earnings before rate stabilization adjustments 
(August 31, 2020 - $1). 

The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial assets or liabilities as FVTPL. Therefore, 
the impact of a change in interest rates at the reporting date on fixed rate assets or liabilities would 
not affect the Company’s earnings. 

Interest rate risk related to the Company's fixed-interest long-term debt relates to the re-setting of 
interest rates upon maturity and refinancing of the debt. The Company mitigates this source of 
interest rate risk by spreading maturities of borrowings over periods currently up to and including 
2051 so that only a portion of outstanding debt will mature in any given fiscal year. In addition, the 
Company has International Swaps and Derivatives Association Agreements in place. The Company 
has not entered into any derivative contracts to manage interest rate risk as at August 31, 2021.  

(ii) Foreign exchange risk 

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in 
currencies other than in the functional currency of the Company. However, the Company invoices and 
receives the vast majority of its revenue in Canadian dollars and also incurs operating expenses and 
capital expenditures primarily in Canadian dollars. In some cases, the Company uses forward foreign 
exchange contracts to mitigate its risk on contractual agreements in foreign currencies. The majority 
of the Company’s exposure to foreign exchange risk relates to the U.S. dollar. The Company does 
not have a significant exposure arising from other currencies. 

The Company’s exposure to foreign exchange risk related to the U.S. dollar is as follows: 

       August 31  August 31 

       2021  2020 

        CDN   U.S.   CDN   U.S. 

   Financial assets             

   Current             

    Cash and cash equivalents  $ 2  $ 1  $ 6  $ 5 

   Non-current             

    Investment in preferred interests   299   237   336   258 

    Other non-current assets   1   1   1   1 

       $ 302  $ 239  $ 343  $ 264 

   Financial liabilities             

   Current             

    Trade and other payables  $ 5  $ 4  $ 10  $ 7 

                  

   Net exposure  $ 297  $ 235  $ 333  $ 257 
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15.  Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued) 

Financial risk management (continued) 

(a)  Market risk (continued) 

(ii) Foreign exchange risk (continued) 

The Company designates certain of its forward contracts as cash flow hedging instruments to hedge 
the Company’s exposure to the impact of exchange rate fluctuations. As at August 31, 2021, the 
Company has designated $1 (fair value) of its forward contracts as cash flow hedging instruments. 
Refer to the Derivative financial instruments section for further details. These instruments are not 
included in the table above. 

The foreign exchange rate sensitivity is the net amount of foreign exchange rate exposure of the 
items at the reporting date, less foreign currency hedges. As at August 31, 2021, if the Canadian 
dollar strengthened or weakened by 10% against the U.S. dollar, all other variables remaining 
constant, net income (loss) before net movement in regulatory deferral accounts would have been 
impacted by $29 (August 31, 2020 - $31). 

(iii) Other price risk 

The fair value of the Company’s investment in preferred interests of Aireon was determined using a 
discounted cash flow model. The estimated fair value of the investment may change in subsequent 
periods. Any such changes could be material and would be reflected in the statement of operations 
as they occur. A sensitivity analysis with respect to changes in the unobservable inputs to the 
valuations is discussed in the Level 3 financial instruments section above. 

Aireon provides global satellite-based surveillance capability for air navigation service providers 
around the world. The following risks have been identified with respect to the Company’s investment 
in preferred interests of Aireon: 

• the global reduction in air traffic as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and travel restrictions 
put in place; 

• the expectation that air traffic may not return to pre COVID-19 levels for some time, which 
will impact Aireon’s revenue where billings are volumetric and reflect air traffic movements; 
and 

• the Company’s receipt of dividends will therefore be delayed. 

(b)  Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party 
by failing to discharge an obligation. The maximum credit risk to which the Company is exposed as at 
August 31, 2021 represents the carrying amount of cash, accounts receivable, reserve funds, 
investments and forward contracts to purchase or sell foreign currencies.  
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15.  Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued) 

Financial risk management (continued) 

(b)  Credit risk (continued) 

The debt service reserve fund and cash equivalents, when applicable, are invested in accordance with 
the Company’s restrictive investment policy to manage credit risk. The Company invests only in short-
term obligations – usually for periods of 90 days or less. The Company limits investments to obligations of 
the federal government, certain provincial governments, entities guaranteed by a federal or provincial 
government or other obligations of entities rated by at least two rating agencies in the top two categories 
for long-term debt or the highest category for short-term debt. The Company does not invest in 
instruments with exposure to underlying synthetic assets. The Company’s portfolio is diversified, with 
dollar and percentage limits on investment counterparties. None of the Company’s holdings in cash and 
cash equivalents or in the debt service reserve fund are past due and all have long-term ratings of either 
AAA or AA or short-term ratings in the highest category. Based on default rates and loss ratios for 
investment-grade bonds with similar maturities, any loss allowance is not significant and therefore none 
has been recognized. 

Historically, accounts receivable are primarily short-term receivables from customers that arise in the 
normal course of business. The Company provides air navigation services to various aircraft operators, 
including Canadian and foreign commercial air carriers as well as small general aviation aircraft. Credit 
limits and compliance with payment terms are monitored by the Company to manage its exposure to 
credit loss. The Company has established a maximum credit limit of $4 for its largest air navigation 
services customers, and it has other credit control measures that reduce its credit exposure. The 
Company’s general payment terms provide for payment periods of thirty days for air navigation services 
and payment periods of up to forty-five days for some other types of services. Shorter payment terms are 
imposed where customer circumstances warrant. The Company’s credit policies also require payments in 
advance or satisfactory security to be posted under certain circumstances.  

The Company revised its customer service charges effective September 1, 2020, increasing customer 
service charges by an average of 29.5% on base rate levels. The customer service charge increase 
included provisions to ease the cash flow burden of the increase on customers through payment deferral 
mechanisms. For the Company’s fiscal 2021, the portion of monthly invoices related to the customer 
service charge increase could be deferred and will become payable by customers in equal installments 
over the next five fiscal years, beginning in fiscal 2022. These provisions increase the Company’s 
exposure to credit risk as payments required in advance and security deposits under the Company’s 
credit policies may not be sufficient to cover potential losses. 

The Company establishes an allowance for expected credit losses that represents its estimate of lifetime 
expected credit losses to be incurred in respect of accounts receivable. Given the high degree of 
uncertainty caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, the estimates and judgments made by management in 
the preparation of the expected credit loss allowance are subject to estimation uncertainty. Based on the 
Company’s current estimates and assumptions, including but not limited to current and forecasted 
economic and credit conditions as well as recent trends for customer collections, the Company recorded 
an expected credit loss allowance of $13 during the year ended August 31, 2021. There were no 
significant balances past due. 
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15.  Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued) 

Financial risk management (continued) 

(c)  Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to evaluate current and expected liquidity requirements 
under both normal and stressed conditions to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and 
cash equivalents or an available undrawn committed credit facility to meet its liquidity requirements in the 
short and longer term. Under the Company’s MTI and GOI, the Company is required to maintain certain 
reserve funds and liquidity levels, as described in note 13.  

The Company has a revolving credit facility with a syndicate of Canadian financial institutions, and 
separate letter of credit facilities for pension funding purposes. The credit facilities have been utilized as 
follows: 

     August 31 

     2021 

  Credit facilities for general purposes:    

   Credit facility with a syndicate of Canadian financial institutions  (1) (2)  $ 850 

   Less: Outstanding letters of credit for other purposes (2)   2 

  Undrawn committed borrowing capacity   848 

   Less: Operations and maintenance reserve allocation (3)   275 

  Available for unrestricted use  $ 573 

       

  Credit facilities for pension funding purposes:    

   Letter of credit facilities for pension funding purposes (4)  $ 621 

   Less: Outstanding letters of credit for pension funding purposes (4)   594 

  Undrawn committed borrowing capacity  $ 27 

 
(1) The Company’s credit facility with a syndicate of Canadian financial institutions in the amount of 

$850 was comprised of two equal tranches maturing on March 26, 2024 and March 26, 2026, 
respectively. The credit facility agreement provides for loans at varying rates of interest based on 
certain benchmark interest rates, specifically the Canadian prime rate and the Canadian bankers’ 
acceptance rate, and on the Company’s credit rating at the time of drawdown. The Company is 
required to pay commitment fees, which are dependent on the Company’s credit rating. The 
Company is in compliance with the credit facility covenants as at August 31, 2021.  

(2) At August 31, 2021, $2 was drawn from an uncommitted revolving credit facility. In connection with 
this facility, an allocation of $25 with a Canadian financial institution has been made under its $850 
committed credit facility. 

(3) The Company is required to maintain a reserve of at least 25% of its prior year’s annual operating 
and maintenance expenses, as defined in the MTI. At August 31, 2021, the Company met this 
requirement with an allocation of $275 in undrawn availability under its committed credit facility. 
Subsequent to August 31, 2021, the allocation amount was reduced to $257 based on actual fiscal 
2021 operating and maintenance expenses. 

(4) The letter of credit facilities for pension funding purposes are comprised of four facilities with 
Canadian financial institutions, which will mature on December 31, 2021, unless extended.  
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16. Commitments 

(a) Future payments under commitments and financial liabilities 

The following table presents a maturity analysis of the Company’s undiscounted contractual cash flows for 
its financial liabilities as at August 31, 2021:  

      Remaining payments – for years ending August 31 

     Total  2022  2023  2024  2025  2026  Thereafter 

  Trade payables and accrued                      

   liabilities (1)  $ 177  $ 177  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ - 

  Derivative liabilities  
 1   1   -   -   -   -   - 

  Long-term debt (including                      

   current portion) (2), (3)  
 2,525   25   25   225   25   325   1,900 

  Interest payments (3)  
 1,410   82   80   78   75   72   1,023 

  Related party loan (4)  
 14   14   -   -   -   -   - 

    $ 4,127  $ 299  $ 105  $ 303  $ 100  $ 397  $ 2,923 

 
(1) To address the significant impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company has negotiated 

concessions, largely payment deferrals, with several vendors. 

(2) Payments represent principal of $2,525. The Company may choose to repay a portion of these 
maturities with available cash and/or may increase the size of a re-financing to generate additional 
liquidity or for other purposes, and/or may choose to redeem in whole or in part an issue in advance 
of its scheduled maturity. 

(3) Further details on interest rates and maturity dates on long-term debt are provided in note 13 to these 
financial statements. 

(4) The Company has an agreement with Aireon to provide a subordinated loan up to a total of $14 CDN 
($11 U.S.).    

(b) Capital commitments 

The Company has firm commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets amounting to $124 as at August 31, 2021 (August 31, 2020 - $108). The following table presents a 
maturity analysis of these contractual commitments: 

      Remaining payments – for years ending August 31 

     Total  2022  2023  2024  2025  2026  Thereafter 

  Capital commitments  
$ 124  $ 65  $ 11  $ 12  $ 8  $ 5  $ 23 
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16. Commitments (continued) 

(c) Leases 

The Company’s lease agreements primarily convey to the Company the right to use office space and 
have lease terms ranging from 2 to 20 years. The Company has entered into a commitment for the lease 
of head office space commencing in the fiscal year ending August 31, 2023. The annual commitment is 
approximately $3 with a term of 20 years. The current head office lease is set to expire on October 31, 
2022. 

Lease liabilities and future lease liabilities are as follows: 

      Remaining payments – for years ending August 31 

     Total  2022  2023  2024  2025  2026  Thereafter 

  Lease liability  $ 3  $ 3  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ - 

  Future lease liability   59   -   2   3   3   3   48 

    $ 62  $ 3  $ 2  $ 3  $ 3  $ 3  $ 48 

 
(d) Letters of credit 

As at August 31, 2021, the outstanding letters of credit of $596 (note 15 (c)) is comprised of $594 drawn 
for pension solvency funding purposes (note 14) and $2 for other purposes. 

 
17.  Contingencies  

(a) Legal contingencies 

The Company is party to legal proceedings in the ordinary course of its business. Management does not 
expect the outcome of any of these proceedings to have a material adverse effect on the consolidated 
financial position or results of operations of the Company. 

(b) Indemnification commitments 

The Company has not provided any material guarantees other than indemnification commitments 
typically provided in the ordinary course of business as described below. These indemnification 
commitments require the Company to compensate the counterparties for costs and losses incurred as a 
result of various events and are similar to the type of indemnifications required by the Company from 
suppliers of services and products, or by other companies in the aviation industry. 

The Company has provided the following significant indemnification commitments: 

Provision of service and system sales 

(i) The Company has entered into four agreements for the sale and maintenance of technology that 
would indemnify the counterparties up to a maximum of $1,000 for each occurrence and in the 
aggregate for losses sustained as a result of the negligence of the Company. In addition, the 
Company has entered into one agreement for the sale and maintenance of technology that would 
indemnify the counterparty up to a maximum of the Company’s ANS liability insurance coverage. The 
Company’s ANS liability insurance provides coverage for these indemnification commitments. These 
indemnities survive termination of the agreements.  
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17.  Contingencies (continued) 

(b) Indemnification commitments (continued) 

Provision of service and system sales (continued) 

(ii) The Company entered into a sales agreement for the supply of an air traffic services data 
management system and provision of related services, which would indemnify the counterparty for 
the cumulative liability of the Company in relation to any claim in any manner howsoever arising out 
of or in connection with the agreement, up to a maximum. The Company’s liability insurance provides 
coverage for this indemnification commitment. This indemnity survives termination of the agreement. 

Other agreements 

In the ordinary course of business the Company provides indemnification commitments to 
counterparties in transactions such as service arrangements, provision of maintenance services, system 
sales, sales of assets, licensing agreements, leasing and site usage transactions, contribution 
agreements, and director and officer indemnification commitments. These indemnification commitments 
require the Company to compensate the counterparties for costs and losses as a result of various 
events such as results of litigation claims, environmental contamination or statutory sanctions that may 
be suffered by a counterparty or third party as a consequence of the transaction or in limited cases, for 
liabilities arising from acts performed by or the negligence of the indemnified parties. The terms of these 
indemnification commitments vary based on the contract. Certain indemnification agreements extend for 
an unlimited period and generally do not provide for any limit on the maximum potential amount. The 
nature of these indemnification commitments does not permit a reasonable estimate of the aggregate 
potential amount that could be required to be paid. The Company has acquired liability insurance that 
provides coverage for most of the indemnification commitments described in this paragraph. 

Historically, the Company has not made any significant payments under any indemnification 
commitments and no material amount has been accrued in the financial statements with respect to 
these indemnification commitments. 

 
18.  Transactions with the Government of Canada 

The Company has arrangements with a number of federal government departments and agencies for the 
provision of various services, such as enhanced security services, weather forecasting and observation, and 
facilities. These arrangements are based on commercially negotiated terms and conditions.   

The Company also has an agreement with the Department of National Defence (DND) relating to the 
exchange of a variety of services with DND such as airspace controls, facilities, information and protocols and 
systems, for mutual benefit without significant cost or expense to either party. 

The Company is contractually obligated to indemnify the Government of Canada for any loss suffered by or 
claimed against it which is covered by the Company’s aviation operations liability insurance. 

In fiscal 2020, the Company applied for the CEWS offered by the Government of Canada to help businesses 
keep workers on their payroll through the challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic. In November 2020, 
the Government of Canada extended the subsidy to June 2021. In June and July 2021, the Government of 
Canada announced further extensions of the program, now set to end October 23, 2021. As discussed in note 
5, the Company received $114 in subsidies under the CEWS (August 31, 2020 - $86) and intends to continue 
its participation in the CEWS program, subject to meeting the eligibility requirements.  
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18.  Transactions with the Government of Canada (continued) 

In April 2021, the Company applied for the Canada Emergency Rent Subsidy (CERS) offered by the 
Government of Canada to help businesses experiencing a drop in revenue to cover part of their commercial 
rent or property tax expenses during the COVID-19 pandemic. Under CERS, the Company is eligible to claim 
eligible expenses up to a maximum of 75,000 dollars per business location or 300,000 dollars in total for all 
locations, until October 23, 2021. During the year ended August 31, 2021, the Company received and 
recognized $1 from the CERS program as a reduction to Facilities and maintenance in the consolidated 
statements of operations.  

 
19.  Related party transactions  

The Company’s related parties include its key management personnel, subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
associates and registered pension plans for its employees. 

Balances and transactions between NAV CANADA and its subsidiaries have been eliminated on 
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Details of transactions between the Company and other 
related parties are disclosed below.  

Compensation of key management personnel 

Key management personnel of the Company include members of the Board and Executive Management 
Committee. Key management personnel compensation included in the Company’s net income (loss) for the 
years ended August 31 was comprised of the following: 

   2021  2020 

 Salaries and other benefits  $ 4  $ 7 

 Defined benefits, including pension benefits   2   3 

 Termination benefits (1)   -   4 

 Management incentive plan   1   1 

 Other long-term benefits   2   1 

 Total compensation  $ 9  $ 16 

 
(1) The Company announced changes to its executive team on August 24, 2020, reducing the Executive 

Management Committee from thirteen to nine members effective September 1, 2020. 

There were no loans provided to key management personnel during fiscal 2021.   

Transactions with joint ventures and associates 

As discussed in note 12, the Company has a participation in Aireon. This participation has been classified as 
an investment in associate since the Company is able to exert significant influence over Aireon’s strategic 
financial and operating activities. The Company also has a 50% interest in Searidge. This interest has been 
classified as a joint venture. 
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19.  Related party transactions (continued) 

Transactions with joint ventures and associates (continued) 

The Company’s transactions for the years ended August 31 with both parties were comprised of: 

   2021  2020 

 Dividend income  $ (12)  $ (13) 

 Cost recoveries   -   1 

 Purchase of data services (1)   55   38 

 Hardware and software purchases   -   1 

 Total  $ 43  $ 27 

 
(1) The Company has a 12-year commitment with Aireon to purchase data services, which commenced in 

March 2019. The estimated total remaining commitment is $567 CDN ($440 U.S.).  

Outstanding balances as at August 31 were: 

   2021  2020 

 Dividends receivable  $ 80  $ 76 

 Long-term loan receivable   3   3 

 Total  $ 83  $ 79 

 
The Company also entered into an agreement with Aireon in January 2020 to provide a subordinated loan up 

to a total of $14 CDN ($11 U.S.).   

Transactions with registered pension plans 

The Company’s transactions with its registered pension plans include contributions paid to the plans and 
letters of credit for pension solvency funding purposes, which are disclosed in note 14, reimbursements from 
the Plan for certain costs in the amount of $10 for fiscal 2021 (fiscal 2020 - $14) and receivables from the 
Plan in the amount of $9 for fiscal 2021 (fiscal 2020 - $6).  
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20.  Capital management 

The Company is a non-share capital corporation and, as discussed in note 1, must not set customer service 
charges higher than what is required to meet its current and future financial requirements for the provision of 
civil air navigation services. The Company views capital as the sum of its issued long-term debt, retained 
earnings and accumulated other comprehensive income, regulatory deferral accounts and balances under 
certain employee benefit plans. This definition of capital is used by management and may not be comparable 
to measures presented by other companies. The Company’s capital is as follows: 

    August 31  August 31 

    2021  2020 

 Bonds and notes payable (note 13)  $ 2,512  $ 2,288 

 Equity:       

  Retained earnings   28   28 

 Regulatory deferral accounts:       

  Debit balances (note 7)   (1,714)   (2,112) 

  Credit balances (note 7)   146   184 

 Employee benefits (note 14):       

  LTD asset   -   (4) 

  Liability for funded pension benefits   876   1,643 

  Liability for accumulating sick leave   17   16 

 Total capital  $ 1,865  $ 2,043 

 
In addition to tracking its capital as defined above for purposes of managing capital adequacy, the Company 
also takes into consideration known contingent exposures and obligations such as rate setting decisions 
made by the Board. 

The Company’s main objectives when managing capital are: 

(i) to safeguard the Company's ability to continue as a going concern; 

(ii) to provide funds for the ongoing acquisition of systems and equipment necessary to implement and 
maintain a modern, cost-efficient ANS technology platform; 

(iii) to ensure the funding of reserve funds as well as working capital and liquidity requirements;  

(iv) to ensure the funding of regulatory requirements such as funding defined benefit pension plan 
contributions; 

(v) to maintain the Company’s credit ratings to facilitate access to capital markets at competitive interest 
rates; and 

(vi) to minimize interest costs incurred by the Company subject to appropriate risk mitigation actions. 

Given that the Company has no share capital, these objectives are achieved through a process that 
determines an appropriate period and level of cost recoveries through customer service charge rate setting, 
as well as the appropriate amount of debt and committed credit facilities. This process includes the 
Company’s operational and capital budgeting process and considers the overall economic and capital market 
environments. The level of debt and committed credit facilities are approved by the Board. The Company is 
not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year ended August 31, 
2021. 


